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Corporate Vision

Management Philosophy of the Daikyo Group

Raison d’etre

The Daikyo Group aims to become
the real estate services group of
choice.

Leveraging the collective strengths of the Group, Daikyo strives to
create a “harmonious living environment” through housing products
and services that satisfy the needs of all age groups and lifestyles.
We endeavored to stabilize our earning foundations and reinforce
our financial underpinnings by positioning our real estate
development operations as a flow business and our real estate
Management
approach

management and brokerage segments as stock businesses,
generating balanced earnings from flow and stock operations.
Having progressed in these respects, the Group will move

Toward customers

toward its next stage of development by formulating new

We endeavor to accommodate needs, and accordingly take customer feedback seriously.
We seek to increase customer satisfaction by delivering optimal homes and services that
offer real comfort.

management policies and deepening collaboration within
the Group to enhance customer satisfaction in implementing
customer value management. The Daikyo Group will continue

Toward society
We revitalize communities while safeguarding the environment.
We will help create a harmonious society by contributing to sustainable urban development
through home construction.
Toward employees
We will create workplaces of which employees and their families can be proud.
We will ensure that all Group employees share the joys of working together and respecting
each other by creating workplaces that foster personal growth and satisfaction.

to pursue innovation in existing ventures while also taking on
challenges in new areas of business both in Japan and abroad,
and aims to capitalize on Groupwide opportunities in emerging
real estate services centered on residential lifestyles that match
customer preferences.

Toward business partners
We will share objectives and collaborate as a business partner.
We aim to offer optimal solutions to customers and deepen trust with business partners as
we progress together.

Demographic change, ecology, globalization

Toward shareholders
We will boost enterprise value by sustainably increasing proﬁtability and growth.
We will respond to change by continuing with management efforts to disclose the right
information and bolster enterprise value.

Code of
conduct
Solar power
generation

Eco
condominiums
Detached
housing

From individuals
Each person will faithfully heed customer feedback and have the foresight to pursue work in
which he or she can deliver unique added value and help enhance enterprise value.
From teams
All teams will aspire to personal growth while collaborating in open communication beyond
divisional or Group company boundaries and to do their very best.

Building
management

Condominium
management

Brokerage/
Leasing

From good sense
We will always keep the environment in mind as we uphold laws and regulations and realize
sustainable regional development and harmonious living environments, thereby fulﬁlling our
social responsibilities as a corporate citizen.
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Cautionary Statement with Respect to
Forward-looking Statements
This report includes projections and forward-looking statements with respect
to the Company’s plans, strategies, and performance. These statements are
based not on past facts but on management’s assumptions and beliefs in light
of information currently available. These statements involve risks and uncertainties relating to such factors as economic trends, intensifying competition in
the real estate sector, legislation, the tax system, and institutions. Accordingly,
actual results may differ materially from those in the Company’s forward-looking
statements.
In this report, millions are rounded up to the nearest whole number while units
of hundreds of millions are rounded down.

Condominiums
with care
facilities
Reconstruction

Renovations

Realization of
real estate services
business

Reselling and
reuse

Overseas

Customeroriented
management

Community
creation

Urban
development

Resident
services

Lifestyle
consulting

Hospital and
nursing facility
management

Emphasis on living environments
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Performance Highlights

The Daikyo Group strives to create a “harmonious living environment” for customers at all life stages by taking into
account all stakeholders.

Number of condominiums
under management
(at the end of March 2016)

530,095

Outline

In addition to the management of Lions Mansion,
which has made us an industry leader in terms of the
cumulative number of condominium buildings supplied,
we became the ﬁrst in the industry to have more than
500,000 condominiums under management, owing
partly to increases through mergers and acquisitions.

Facilities managed

Cumulative number
of condominium
units supplied

(at the end of March 2016)

(at the end of March 2016)

455,023

Approx.

6,000

Condominiums managed

Condominium association

(at the end of march 2016)

(at the end of March 2016)

530,000 + households

Approx.

9,500

Business locations
(at the end of March 2016)

Approx.

Network

379

We build relationships with numerous customers and
business partners by setting up business units in major
Japanese cities.

Overseas expansion

Business expansion

47 prefectures

3 countries

Population of target cities
in which Daikyo supplies
condominiums

300,000
Engineers
(at the end of March 2016)

Construction
capabilities

Approx.

2,000

We maintain construction capabilities tailored to
customer needs.

Construction and contracting results

New condominiums

Large repair and maintenance work

(at the end of March 2016)

(at the end of March 2016)

1,400 units

Approx.
cumulative total

5,000 units

Approx.
cumulative total

Shareholders’ equity ratio

Financial
position

(at the end of March 2016)

Debt to equity ratio

60.5

(at the end of March 2016)

%

We built stable earnings foundations and a robust
ﬁnancial position.

0.23 times
Bond ratings (as of March 31, 2016)
Rating and Investment
Information, Inc. (R&I)

BBB＋
(Stable)
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Japan Credit Rating Agency
Ltd. (JCR)

A−

(Positive)

(at the end of March 2016)

ESG
(Environmental, Social
and Governance)

Number of products developed
based on customer needs
(at the end of March 2016)

5,256
Females account for 21%
(1,088 employees)
Percentage of employees in
labor unions

70

Performance Highlights

Employees

One of the Daikyo Group’s innovations is the Lions Living Labo
project, which undertakes surveys and round-table discussions
to translate customer needs into products.

(at the end of March 2016)

6

%

Cumulative number of employees
taking corporate university courses

Number of employees taking childcare
leave (ﬁscal 2015)

112

(including 25 females)

105

(including 9 males)

In 2010, the Daikyo Group created the Daikyo Nexus Academy.
Executives are instructors at this corporate university, which
cultivates young and mid-level employees for future leadership positions. The college has taught a total of 112 employees
(including 25 females).

Percentage of working mothers
(in ﬁscal 2015)

30

%

The Daikyo Group endeavors to provide work conditions that
are conducive to female employment. One in 3.4 female
employees at Daikyo is a working mother with children younger
than 18.

Power generated at head ofﬁce

Electricity consumption

(in ﬁscal 2015)

(compared with ﬁscal 2012 at
head ofﬁce)

11,496

watts

As part of efforts to conserve energy, the Daikyo Group had
solar panels installed on part of the roof at head ofﬁce and
lithium-ion storage batteries, which ensure power supply for
several days in case of a power outage.

Down

26

%

In 2013, we upgraded facilities at head ofﬁce, as part of which
we installed LED lighting, switched from water-cooled to aircooled air-conditioning systems, and installed thermal barrier
ﬁlms. We thereby cut electricity consumption by 26% compared with pre-upgrade levels.

Water consumption
(in ﬁscal 2015)

5,285

m3

(at head ofﬁce)
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1.

An aging population
The population is declining, and the
number of individuals older than 65 is
rising every year.

Ready for Change
Harmonious Living Environment Megatrends
The operating climate is changing for the Daikyo Group. Around
1.7 million of Japan’s more than 6 million condominiums were
constructed more than 30 years ago. Around a quarter of the
population is older than 65. These factors are driving up the
number of vacant homes, which is a growing social issue.

Harmonious
living
environment
megatrends

2.

Cumulative number of
condominiums supplied
in Japan
Around 1.7 million of Japan’s more than 6
million condominiums were constructed
more than 30 years ago. The number of
older condominiums continues to rise.

3.
4
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Number of vacant homes
The vacant home rate has reached a
record high, numbering 8.2 million, or
13.5% of the number of homes.

The Daikyo Group’s Changing Role
• Daikyo sold its first condominiums in 1968, a time when more consumers were viewing such
residences as not just for the wealthy.
Establishing DAIKYO ASTAGE INCORPORATED, a condominium management company, in 1969.

1970s and1980s

• In 1978, Daikyo became the industry leader in terms of the number of condominium units
supplied, ranking No. 1 for 29 consecutive years until 2006.
• Launched the real estate brokerage business in 1979 and established what is now DAIKYO
ANABUKI REAL ESTATE INCORPORATED in 1988.

2000s

• Became the first in the industry to receive a house design and performance evaluation based on
the Housing Performance Labeling System, which was introduced with the enactment of the
Housing Quality Assurance Act in 2000.

Harmonious Living Environment Megatrends

1960s

Population
(Million)

Left axis: Total population

Right axis: Proportion aged over 65
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13.5

million units

Cumulative number of condominiums supplied in Japan
(Thousand units)

Left axis: Number of new condominiums
Right axis: Cumulative number of condominiums

%

Total number of homes and vacant home numbers and percentages

(Million units)

(Million units)

Left axis: Total number of homes
Left axis: Number of vacant homes

Right axis: Percentage of
homes that are vacant
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Ready for New Value Creation
The Daikyo Group’s Value Creation
We are looking beyond new condominium sales to expand our
business domains. We have reinforced ties between Group
companies to build a long-term customer support structure.

The Daikyo
Group’s current
business domains

1.

Five capital components and resulting
core competences

Capital
Financial
capital

Manufacturing
capital

Human
capital

Intellectual
capital

Social and
relationship
capital

Core competence
Nationwide network
Extensive customer base
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Construction capabilities tailored to
customer needs
Stable ﬁnancial position

Value Creation Efforts of The Daikyo Group

Business domains
New business creation

New condominium sales
Detached house sales
Other condominium construction contracting
Providing serviced housing for the elderly

Products

Real estate agency

Services

Products

Condominium under management
Resident services
Building and facility management
Real estate brokerage and sales
Energy conservation consulting
Condominium leasing and lease management
Real estate investment

Renovated condominium sales
Remodeling
Facility construction and demolition
Condominium repairs
Seismic reinforcement

Businesses generated from
existing infrastructure

2.

Business domain transformations
from core competencies

Contributing to a
more comfortable
and sustainable
society

3.

Daikyo Group’s solutions
We are building a sustainable value chain that can
support customers throughout their lifetimes. We will
resolve key regional issues by focusing on the
environment and population aging through housingrelated business.
Revitalizing and
adding value
Renovation and
repairs

Compact cities
Redevelopment
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To Our Shareholders

Fiscal 2015 Business Environment and Financial Results
During ﬁscal 2015, the Real Estate Development and
Sales segment recorded an increase in net sales on a rise
in average unit sales prices in the main business of condominium sales. Nevertheless, operating income declined
on a lower gross proﬁt margin on condominium sales,
from factors including revaluations of large-scale projects
currently under construction.
In the Real Estate Management segment, the number
of condominium units managed grew steadily, surpassing 530,000 for the ﬁrst time in the industry, and growth
was also recorded in management contracts for buildings and other facilities. With an additional large increase
in sales of building and facility-related contract work, the
segment’s net sales and operating income both rose
from the previous year.
The Real Estate Brokerage segment also recorded
increases in net sales and operating income, on a large
Akira Yamaguchi
President and Representative Executive Ofﬁcer

increase in the number of renovated condominiums sold
and higher unit prices for condominium units brokered.
As a result, consolidated net sales for the year totaled
¥334.8 billion, with operating income of ¥18.3 billion,
ordinary income of ¥17.0 billion, and proﬁt attributable to
owners of parent of ¥12.6 billion.
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(Billions of yen)

Overview of
Fiscal 2015 Results

Fiscal 2014 Actual

Fiscal 2015 Actual

Difference

317.1

334.8

+17.6

Net sales
Operating income

18.1

18.3

+0.1

Ordinary income

16.7

17.0

+0.3

Profit attributable to
owners of parent

12.1

12.6

+0.4

scope of the business going forward through nationwide

Based on our basic policy of returning proﬁts to share-

development while maintaining proﬁtability.

holders by continuously increasing corporate and share-

In the Real Estate Management segment, a core driver

holder value, we will continue to pay dividends that

of Group earnings, we will strive to innovate and expand

comprehensively take into account our ﬁnancial perfor-

our services even more as the No. 1 manager of condo-

mance, while maintaining a sound ﬁnancial position and

minium units, while also setting ourselves apart from our

investing for future growth.

competition by strengthening our specialized, unique

In light of our ﬁnancial results and other factors during

capabilities in the management of buildings and other

ﬁscal 2015, we paid a year-end dividend of ¥3 per share.

facilities, and expanding our ﬁelds of business. We will

For ﬁscal 2016 (the year ending March 31, 2017), taking

also aim to increase the number of orders for contract

into account our projected ﬁnancial results and invest-

work using our ability to provide high value-added solu-

ment for future proﬁt growth, balanced with dividend pay-

tions and quality construction that meet the needs of

ments, we plan to increase the dividend by ¥1 per share

customers for condominiums, buildings, and other

and pay a year-end dividend of ¥4 per share.

facilities.

To Our Shareholders

Dividend Policy

In the Real Estate Brokerage segment, where further

Issues to Be Addressed

growth is anticipated going forward, we will strive to

The Daikyo Group aims to create a new “real estate ser-

enhance our presence by opening new ofﬁces and

vices business” that customers choose as the focal point

expanding our geographic coverage, with a particular

of their residential lifestyles. During ﬁscal 2015, we took

focus on further nationwide development by strengthen-

the ﬁrst steps toward a new stage of further proﬁt growth,

ing our brokerage and renovated condominium sales

and we will continue with these measures in ﬁscal 2016

outside of major cities.

and beyond.

Going forward, the Daikyo Group will go beyond main-

In the Real Estate Development and Sales segment,

taining and regenerating residential stock, to evolve as a

we have positioned the condominium business as both a

living environment creator that solves the problems of

source of stable earnings and a starting point for Daikyo

local societies and communities.

Group revenue streams. We will continue to expand the
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Market Environment

Overview of trends in the condominium and building markets in which the Daikyo Group operates and its
market position.

Cumulative number of
condominiums supplied
in Japan
Source: Ministry of Land,
Infrastructure, Transport
and Tourism

(Thousand units)

Left axis: Number of new condominiums
Right axis: Cumulative number of condominiums

(Million units)
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Ranking in terms of
cumulative number of
condominiums supplied
since establishment
Source: Daikyo, based on data from
the Real Estate Economic
Institute Co., Ltd.

1990

2000

2010

Company

2015

Number of units supplied

342,441

1 Daikyo
2 Company A

168,049

3 Company B

131,863

4 Company C

116,871

5 Company D

115,839

5.1

18.3

Source: Daikyo, based on data from
Mansion Kanri Shimbun

8.1

8.9
(%)

13.7

The cumulative number of units that each
company has supplied since establishment
through 2015 were numbers through 2002 for
each company excerpted from the Real Estate
Economic Institute’s Three Decades of the
Japanese Condominium Market, adding the
company’s announcements of annual sales
by enterprise since 2003.

The Daikyo Group has supplied more
than 450 thousand units.

3.1 1.8

Number of condominium
units under management

After condominiums swiftly
became common in the 1970s, the
annual number supplied exceeded
100 thousand units in the 1990s.
However, funding to an overheated
real estate sector was suppressed
following the ﬁnancial crisis of
2008, with the shortfall causing
construction starts to plunge and
the supply to drop below the 2007
peak of 227,000 units. Housing
demand steadied thereafter, with
supply recovering somewhat
despite the impact of the Great
East Japan Earthquake of 2011.

47.6

Inner circle: Breakdown by scale of top 494
condominium management
companies
Outer circle: Market share by company
scale

More than 100,000 units
More than 50,000 units

82.0

Japan’s stock of condominiums
totaled around 6.23 million units at
the end of 2015 (source: Ministry of
Land, Infrastructure, Transport and
Tourism). The management of new
condominiums by developer
groups has become common, with
large companies dominating the
market.

More than 20,000 units
More than 10,000 units

11.5

Condominium management
company ranking based on
number of condominium
units under management
(as of March 31, 2016)
Source: Mansion Kanri Shimbun

Less than 10,000 units

Company

1
2
3
4

DAIKYO GROUP
TOKYU COMMUNITY GROUP
NIHON HOUSING CO., LTD.
HASEKO COMMUNITY GROUP

5
6
7
8

DAIWA HOUSE GROUP
MITSUBISHI ESTATE GROUP
MITSUI FUDOSAN RESIDENTIAL SERVICE GROUP
GOJINSHA KEIKAKU KENNKYUJYO GROUP

9 SUMITOMO FUDOSAN TATEMONO SERVICE CO., LTD.
10 NIHON SOGO JYUSEIKATSU KABUSHIKIGAISYA
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Condominium units
under management

530,095
504,442
425,873
361,204
332,300
315,782
251,874
209,289
179,640
158,676

Company name

DAIKYO ASTAGE INC.
ANABUKI COMMUNITY INC.

Condominium units
under management

426,482
103,613

Sales contracts for existing
condominiums in the
Tokyo metropolitan area
Source: Real Estate Information
Network for East Japan

(Units)

Left axis: Number of sales contracts

(Years)

Right axis: Age of structures
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15
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14

0

13
2005/3

Sales for major real
estate brokerages
(as of March 31, 2016)
Source: Shukan Jutaku Shimbun

2010/3

2016/3
Total amount
of transactions
(Millions of yen)

Company

75,609
48,379
56,303
28,028
13,568
17,351
17,100
7,534
7,840
6,749

MITSUI FUDOSAN REALTY CO., LTD.
TOKYU LIVABLE INC.
SUMITOMO REAL ESTATE SALES CO., LTD.
NOMURA REAL ESTATE GROUP
MIZUHO TRUST REALTY COMPANY LTD.
MITSUBISHI UFJ REAL ESTATE SERVICES CO., LTD.
SUMITOMO MITSUI TRUST REALTY CO., LTD.
MITSUBISHI REAL ESTATE SERVICES. CO., LTD.
DAIKYO GROUP
TAISEI-YURAKU REAL ESTATE SALES CO., LTD.

Number of renovated
condominiums in the Tokyo
metropolitan area and
percentage of pre-owned
condominiums that are
renovated

(Units)

Source: Daikyo, based on materials
from the Real Estate
Information Network for
East Japan

2,000

Left axis: Number of condominiums

Number of brokerage
transactions

Commissions
(Millions of yen)

37,827
21,939
35,987
7,710
4,151
6,081
7,208
1,278
6,564
4,221

Right axis: Percentage of existing condominiums

(%)

7,000

16.0

6,000

14.0

5,000

12.0
10.0

4,000

8.0
3,000

Number of brokerage
office branches at year-end

1,424,320
1,211,565
1,065,654
713,574
512,471
441,752
419,121
195,137
161,688
147,688

275
158
257
72
45
43
71
9
67
37

Interest in renovated units has
begun to rise with demand for
pre-owned condominiums such
that one unit in seven in the
Tokyo metropolitan area has
been renovated.

Market Environment

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

Demand for existing condominiums has expanded owing to
increases in condominiums in
stock and a lower supply of new
ones. The number of sales contracts in the Tokyo metropolitan
area has risen in recent years.

6.0
4.0

1,000

2.0

0
2013/3

2014/3

2015/3

2016/3

0

Three-month units

Acquisition and resale of
pre-owned homes/ranking
of units sold
Source: the Remodeling
Business Journal
(as of March 31, 2016)

Company

Number of units sold

Resale amount (Billions of yen)

Percentage of condminium units

1 KATITAS CO., LTD.

3,034

39.10

5%

2 FUJI CORPORATION LIMITED

1,518

26.45

80%

3 INTELLEX CO., LTD.

1,393

32.63

100%

4 DAIKYO GROUP

1,236

29.42

100%

860

26.00

100%

5 TOTAL ESTATE, LTD.

Scale of building
management market

(Billions of yen)

Source: “Building Management
Market Survey Results
2015” by Yano Research
Institute Ltd.

3,500

Left axis: Market scale

(%)

Right axis: Year on year

4,500

Daikyo Group’s sales from
building management

160.0

4,000

Forecast

3,000
2,500

140.0

(Billions of yen)

120.0

32

100.0

30

80.0

2,000

28

60.0

1,500

26
40.0

1,000

20.0

5,00

0

0
2003/3

2006/3

2009/3

2012/3

2015/3

2018/3

24
22
2012/3

2013/3

2014/3

2015/3

2016/3

The building management market encompasses the three key aspects of cleaning, facility administration, and security services, as well as
repairs, upgrades, remodeling, and other peripheral operations. Since the Great East Japan Earthquake, related construction has underpinned the market scale through increased demand related to recovery, energy conservation, and power savings. The overall market has
exceeded ¥3 trillion in recent years despite few prospects for signiﬁcant growth following a peak in new construction demand.
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Segment Information

The Daikyo Group maintains stock and ﬂow businesses.
The Group positions its three reporting segments under either of two operational pillars. One pillar comprises ﬂow businesses, Including the
Real Estate Development and Sales segment, which center on the construction and sales of new condominiums. The other pillar comprises
stock businesses, one of which is the Real Estate Management segment, which encompasses administration of condominiums, buildings and
other facilities, as well as contract work derived from these operations. The other is the Real Estate Brokerage segment, focusing on property
brokerage, condominium sales, and lease management.

Consolidated
Fiscal 2015

Net sales

¥334.8 billion

Operating income ¥18.3 billion
Fiscal 2015

Fiscal 2015

Net sales

¥122.2 billion

Operating income

Real Estate
Management

¥8.6 billion

Real Estate
Development
and Sales

Flow Business

Net sales

¥162.8 billion

Operating income

¥9.6 billion

Stock Business
Daikyo Group

Fiscal 2015
Real Estate
Brokerage

Net sales

¥54.9 billion

Operating income

¥3.2 billion

Share of sales of stock and ﬂow businesses

78%

78%

~2009/3

2010/3~

76%

61%

57%

55%

52%

42%

38%

36%

62%

45%

58%

64%

48%

Flow Business
Real Estate Development
and Sales

Stock Business
Real Estate Management/
Real Estate Brokerage

12
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22%

22%

24%

2007/3

2008/3

2009/3

39%
2010/3

43%
2011/3

2012/3

2013/3

2014/3

2015/3

2016/3

Our stock and ﬂow businesses address the diverse needs of customers.

Stock Businesses

Flow Businesses

Business to
Consumer

Real Estate Development
and Sales

Real Estate Management

New condominium sales

Condominium management
support

Detached house sales

Resident services

Real Estate Brokerage

Condominium repairs

Real estate brokerage and sales
Remodeling
Renovated
condominium sales

Serviced housing for the elderly

Condominium leasing and
lease management

Business to
Business

Real estate agency

Building and facility
management

Other condominium
construction contracting

Energy conservation consulting

Segment Information

Real estate investment

Facility construction and
demolition

Support for lease management

Spotlighting new condominiums as but one example of
the Group’s contribution to comfortable living

Leasing
Brokerage

Periodic inspections and after-sales services
Introducing a new condominium

¥¥

Selling
Undertaking remodeling

Remodeling

Customer
Considering a
condominium purchase

Contract

Living in a condominium

Moving in

Providing services for residents

Establishing management
associations by all owners

Flow Business

Stock Business

Handling such tasks as
administrative support, building
and facilities management, and
building attendant services

Management associations

Undertaking renovations

Support for reconstruction

Renovation

Reconstruction

Operations through condominium
management associations
Stock Business

Flow Business
Timeline

DAIKYO INCORPORATED REPORT 2016
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Flow Business

Real Estate Development and Sales

Percentage of consolidated net sales

Net sales

(Fiscal 2015)

(Billions of yen)

142.7
Real Estate
Development
and Sales

120.7

122.2

2015/3

2016/3

36%

Net
Net sales
sales

2014/3*

Operating income

Condominium sales (Billions of yen)
and gross profit margin (%)

(Billions of yen)

132.1

Major companies

2015/3

2016/3

Completion
of
construction

Construction
start

（供給）

Sales
agreement

Delivery
Contract
Sales

DAIKYO INCORPORATED REPORT 2016

2015/3

108.0
22.9

2016/3

*Fiscal 2013 ﬁgures are presented
retroactively in accordance with the
change in accounting policy.

Construction
approved

販売
Sale
(supply)

14

2014/3

24.7

The ﬁrst stage of the new condominium business is to secure land for construction, with construction starting
after receiving construction approval. Condominium sales generally begin once construction has started.
From when sales start through to the signing of contracts, units are recorded as the balance of contracted
units, and then posted to sales once delivery to purchasers has been completed.

Real Estate Sales Process

Land
acquisition

2014/3*

21.3

8.6

7.8

We operate a nationwide business that integrates everything from
land acquisition to planning, sales, and after-sales services, mainly
for new condominiums. We draw on our construction capabilities to
supply new Group-built condominiums.

Planned
construction
site

106.6

10.1

DAIKYO INCORPORATED
ANABUKI CONSTRUCTION INC.

After-sales
services

Making the most of Daikyo Group
synergies

Lions Hijiyamahonmachi
Hiroshima City, Hiroshima
(Completed in February 2016)

Joint venture properties

Fiscal 2015: Three properties were completed through joint ventures (Daikyo
and Anabuki Construction)
Fiscal 2016: Planning to complete ﬁve joint venture and Daikyo Group projects
while pushing ahead with three redevelopment projects

Lions Kokutaiji Grand Axis
Hiroshima City, Hiroshima
(Slated completion
December 2016)

Properties built by Anabuki Construction
Completed in ﬁscal 2015
Slated for completion in ﬁscal 2016
Slated for completion in ﬁscal 2017

Asama-cho Project
Nagoya, Aichi
(Slated completion latter half
of 2017)

Lions Kashiwa-Asahicho
Surpass Residence
Kashiwa, Chiba
(Completed in September 2015)

*Joint venture of Anabuki
Construction and Daikyo Anabuki
Construction

Lions Shinfunabashi Surpass
Residence
Funabashi, Chiba
(Slated completion July 2016)

Nishitetsu Kurume Project
Kurume, Fukuoka
(Redevelopment project)
Lions Sasaoka Surpass
Residence
Fukuoka City, Fukuoka
(Slated for completion
September 2016)

Kagoshima Project
Kagoshima City, Kagoshima
(Redevelopment project)

Lions Yokohama-Kamoi
The Resortia
Yokohama, Kanagawa
(Slated for completion June 2016)

Lions Chiyoda Iwamotocho
Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo
(Slated for completion
February 2018)

Flow Business
Real Estate Development and Sales

Lions Kashiwa-Chiyoda
Surpass Residence
Kashiwa, Chiba
(Completed in September 2015)

Lions Koiwa Grand Terrace
Edogawa-ku, Tokyo
(Slated for completion
March 2017)

*Joint venture involving Anabuki
Construction and Daikyo Anabuki
Construction

In ﬁscal 2015, six projects for approximately 1,200 planned units were approved.
Twelve projects are currently in progress. In ﬁscal 2016, two redevelopment
projects are scheduled for completion.

Pushing ahead with
redevelopment business
Overview of redevelopment projects
Scheduled for completion in ﬁscal 2016

Projects in progress

Area

Lions Ogaki-ekimae Laurel Tower
Ogaki, Gifu
(Slated for completion
September 2016, sold out)

Lions Tower Kashiwa
Kashiwa, Chiba
(Slated for completion
May 2016, sold out)

Projects

Projects approved
in ﬁscal 2015

Hokkaido, Tohoku

4

1

The Tokyo metropolitan area

3

1

Chubu

2

2

Kyushu, Okinawa

3

2

12

6

Total
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Stock Business

Real Estate Management
Percentage of consolidated net sales

Net sales

(Fiscal 2015)

(Billions of yen)

158.2

151.2

162.8

Net sales
Real Estate
Management

48%

2014/3*

(Billions of yen)

Major companies

30.4

9.7

9.6
8.2

This business primarily engages in condominium management and
support for management associations, maintenance management of
buildings and facilities, security, cleaning, among others, and contract
work that includes renovating and remodeling condominiums,
buildings, and facilities.

2014/3*

2016/3

Backlog of orders for
contract work (Billions of yen)

Operating income

DAIKYO ASTAGE INCORPORATED
ANABUKI COMMUNITY INC.
ORIX FACILITIES CORPORATION
DAIKYO ANABUKI CONSTRUCTION INCORPORATED

2015/3**

2015/3**

25.0

23.6

2016/3

2014/3

2015/3**

2016/3

* Fiscal 2013 ﬁgures are presented retroactively in accordance with the change in
accounting policy.
** Fiscal 2015 ﬁgures reﬂect a change in segmentation.

Condominium management and contract work
Management company

Management association
Management commission expenses
(from administrative expenses)

Condominium
management
contract

Support for management associations,
building and facility management,
personnel management, and security
services
Construction charges
(from maintenance reserve)

Comprising all
condominium
unit owners

Contract work

Unit owners

Administrative
expenses

Maintenance
reserve
Support for planned renovations

1.

Condominium management contract

A management association comprising all condominium unit owners commissions a management
company to manage the condominium building which then receives management, maintenance
and other fees in return for its services. The main tasks include clerical work, such as recording
expenses and receipts for administrative expenses and the maintenance reserve collected for the
running of the management association, overseeing maintenance which includes daily cleaning, and
the maintenance of structures and facilities. Such support services help to enhance security, safety
and comfort for residents.

16
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2.

Contract work

As condominiums age, they require repairs and planned renovations to maintain and improve the
performance of structures and facilities. A management company handles construction scheduling
and consulting and oversees the work, receiving construction fees from the maintenance reserve
that a management association sets aside.

1.

Condominium management
Comprehensive management services

• Accounting
• Support for governing bodies &
general meetings
• Implementation/coordination of
maintenance and repair
• Facility inspection
• Remote management
services

We have appointed female customer service liaisons to specialize in resolving
housing-related concerns.

• Managerial staff operations
• Cleaning

Daily concerns

Condominium
advisors

Condominium
supporter (janitor)

Customer
service
liaisons

Condominium advisors are local employees who negotiate and communicate with
the management associations of condominium owners. These advisors collaborate with condominium janitors in providing consulting to support association
management and resolve their issues.

Proposing solutions

Condominiums fast became popular in the 1970s. The current stock exceeds six million units nationwide, with the need for renovations increasing as time
passes. By integrating the construction entities within the Group, we have shared expertise and reinforced purchasing capabilities so we can provide higherquality services.

Contract work

Planned renovations and
their purpose

Stock Business
Real Estate Management

We have deployed female customer service liaisons at
branches around the nation to utilize their skills in
listening attentively and attending to the needs of
elderly people and housewives who spend long periods
of the day at home. These representatives focus on
this demographic as part of a structure designed to
enhance customer satisfaction and generate new
business opportunities.

Janitor Training Center
In 1988, we established the condominium janitor industry’s ﬁrst
training center for janitors. The
center offers specialized training
in high-quality services.

2.

Customers

Functionality

Planned renovations and
maintenance and enhancement of the performance of
structures and facilities
5

Initial
performance
3

Repairs

Refurbishments

Refurbishments

Degradation

Repairs

1
2

4
Large-scale repairs and
maintenance work (ﬁrst)
after around 12 years

Large-scale repairs and
maintenance work (second)
after around 24 years

1 Structures degrade over time.

A management company undertakes planned renovations by providing support when a management association formulates upkeep plans covering around 30 years.
2

3 Planned repairs and maintenance at appropriate times according to the degradation of structures and facilities can restore performance to not far below the levels of new buildings.
4 Around 12 to 15 years after construction, large-scale repairs and maintenance work are undertaken to coat walls, waterproof roofs, and coat metalwork.
5 At these stages, Group management companies formulate proposals to not only functionally restore condominium buildings but also reﬁt them with the latest facilities and make the buildings

barrier-free for greater enhancement of their performance.
In planned renovations, stages 1 through 5 are thereafter repeated.
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Condominium management

The number of condominium under management has been steadily increasing, and the Daikyo Group
became the ﬁrst in the industry with over 530,000 units in its portfolio of managed condominiums. We also
landed more contracts involving partial management.
In ﬁscal 2016, while working to increase the number of condominium units managed, we will also take
steps to make individual properties more proﬁtable.

Number of condominium under management and
condominium management income
Contracts for partial management

533,000 units

+3,964 units

530,095 units

9 buildings

526,131 units

¥

XXX億円

54.0

¥

53.1

billion

billion

4 buildings
418 units
261 units

2015/3

2016/3

2015/3

2017/3
Target

2016/3

Management income (condominiums)

Number of buildings under new contracts for partial management

Number of condominium units managed (overall management)

Number of units under new contracts for partial management

Contract work results and
overview

We have achieved a substantially higher percentage of orders from condominiums under management for
large-scale repair and maintenance work.
We achieved substantially higher sales as a result of successfully tapping construction demand for buildings
and facilities.
In ﬁscal 2016, we will strengthen our portfolio of orders for energy efﬁciency renovation work on buildings
and facilities.

Orders received for large-scale repair and maintenance work from
condominiums under management

Contract work sales/breakdown
¥

81.8％
76.8％

366

buildings

61.2 billion
¥2.2
billion
¥22.6

¥

billion

37.5

¥

2015/3

18

69.6 billion
¥7.8
billion
¥30.3
¥

buildings

357

2016/3

billion

Of which, solar
energy-related

¥

Of which, solar
energy-related

37.8

billion

billion

2015/3

2016/3

Number of buildings placing orders

Condominium-related

Ratio of orders received

Building & facility-related
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75.0 billion

2017/3
Target
Other

Overview of building and facility management and building construction
Building and facility
management company

Building
Cleaning, inspecting facilities, providing security, and
handling emergencies, and other work.

Services provided
Building maintenance

Administrative
tasks on behalf
of owners

Soliciting and managing tenants,
clerical work, and managing payments

Tenants
Tenants

Property management

Monthly report

Tenants
Owners

Construction management

Commission
agreement

Tenants

Construction
contract

Planning and designing, ordering, construction
supervision, and safety management

Planned
construction sites

Construction contracting
Construction, electrical, facilities, installation of meters
and safety devices, and other work

Property management
This service offers the comprehensive management
of owners’ facilities. We collaborate in building
maintenance, helping with management and with
retaining the aesthetics of facilities.
We provide owners with timely reports on
management progress and make strategic
proposals as needed.

Building & facility management

Construction management
In construction projects, we propose plans and
designs that reﬂect owners’ intentions and
needs, maintaining quality and ensuring
construction safety.

Construction contracting
We provide comprehensive support for
planning, design, construction, repairs and
renovations for building, electrical, and facility
work, providing services that add value to
structures and facilities.

Stock Business
Real Estate Management

Building maintenance
While inspecting building facilities and monitoring
their operations, we preserve the assets of building
owners through three key services to ensure that
areas are comfortable for users.
1 The ﬁrst is to lower running costs and maintain
facilities so they can be used for a long time.
2 The second is to optimize cleaning to preserve
and enhance aesthetics and keep surroundings
sanitary.
3 The third is to ensure safety through security
and disaster prevention monitoring. These
services lead to comfortable living for users.

* As well as offering owners building maintenance services and construction
contracting, we sometimes also maintain service agreements with tenants.

We gained more management contracts for medical and social welfare facilities. We also expanded into new
business involving integrated management-type ESCOs*.
We continue to strengthen our portfolio of orders in areas of business where we can leverage our expertise and
strengths.

Amount of annual contracts in buildings and facilities

Facilities under contract in medical and social welfare services
As of March 31, 2016, we have 578 facilities under
management, and annual contracts amounting to ¥4.8 billion.

300

¥

billion

290

¥

280

billion

¥

National Hospital Organization Kyoto
Medical Center

billion

Facility under contract in the integrated
management-type ESCO business

2015/3

2016/3

2017/3
Target

*The Energy Service Company (ESCO) business involves providing comprehensive services relating to
energy savings and conservation. An ESCO provides guarantees with respect to effectively providing
energy savings, and in return receives a portion of the money that has been saved through greater
energy efﬁciency and cost-cutting.

University of Fukui, Matsuoka campus*
*A consortium of three companies, including Mitsubishi
UFJ Lease & Finance Inc. and Totech Corporation Inc.

DAIKYO INCORPORATED REPORT 2016

19

Real Estate Brokerage
Percentage of consolidated net sales

Net sales

(Fiscal 2015)

(Billions of yen)

Real Estate
Brokerage

54.9

16%

48.4
36.6

Net sales

2014/3*

Operating income

Number of trading and brokerage transactions
Renovated condominium sales (units)

3.2
2.9

DAIKYO ANABUKI REAL ESTATE INCORPORATED
DAIKYO REFORM . DESIGN INCORPORATED

2016/3

Total number of transactions

(Billions of yen)

Major companies

2015/3**

7,800

7,667
827

7,749
1,056

1,236

6,840

6,693

6,564

2014/3

2015/3

2016/3

2.3

We mainly broker condominiums and remodel and sell residences.
We also renovate and provide lease management support for
property owners.
2014/3*

2015/3**

2016/3

* Fiscal 2013 ﬁgures are presented retroactively in accordance with the change in
accounting policy.
** Fiscal 2015 ﬁgures reﬂect a change in segmentation.

General ﬂow of brokerage and real
estate sales in the Real Estate
Brokerage segment

2 Brokerage

Seller

Brokerage
commissions

Sales consultations

Brokerage
Real estate company

1 After consulting with the seller, we evaluate the property by

checking the location and other information, and conclude a
brokerage contract with the seller. We then begin advertising
and showing the property to interested parties.
2 Once a buyer is decided on, we help conclude a contract between

1 Brokerage contract

3 Sales contract

Renovating
and selling
property

Sales contract

the seller and the buyer and receive a brokerage commission.
Seller’s property

Daikyo property
brand
Renoα

Real estate sales (renovated condominium sales)
3 A real estate company of the Daikyo Group buys the property*

after consultation with the seller.
4

4 After renovating the property, the real estate company of the

Introductions and
other support

Daikyo Group sells the property and receives payment from
the buyer.

Sales contract

Real estate sales

Receiving sales
proceeds as seller

*Properties that the Daikyo Group buys must satisfy certain
conditions.

Buyer

20
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Buyer

Brokerage and renovated
condominium sales and overview

The total number of transactions steadily increased as a result of rise in the number of both brokerage
transactions and renovated condominium units sold.

Real estate brokerage income and number of trading and
brokerage transactions

Renovated condominium sales and units sold

1,600–1,700 units

7,700–7,800
6,564

6,693

1,236 units
1,056 units

6.0 billion
¥29.4 billion
+¥

7.8 billion

¥

7.4 billion

¥

¥

2016/3
Commission rate
4.9％

Real estate brokerage income

2017/3
(Target)

Number of trading and brokerage transactions

Increasing the number of
brokerage ofﬁces

2015/3

2016/3

Gross proﬁt margin
20.3％

Gross proﬁt margin
18.0％

Renovated condominium sales

2017/3
(Target)

Number of condominium units delivered

Stock Business
Real Estate Brokerage

2015/3
Commission rate
4.6％

23.4 billion

In ﬁscal 2016, we plan to open at least ﬁve new brokerage ofﬁces as part of plans to establish 100 such sites
by 2020.
We began opening Reno Salon stores, which are designed based on a new concept of providing one-stop
support for real estate brokerage and remodeling services.
In ﬁscal 2016, we will work to boost work volume in regional areas to incrase real estate brokerage and
renovated condominium sales.

68 locations nationwide (as of March 31, 2015) 70 locations (as of May 12, 2016),
Includes 52 branch ofﬁces
56 branch ofﬁces
*Locations handling trading and brokerage functions

● Renovated brokerage ofﬁces (six ofﬁces)
● New brokerage ofﬁces (four ofﬁces)
■ As of May 12, new brokerage ofﬁces and renovated brokerage ofﬁces
opening in ﬁscal 2016 (three ofﬁces and 1 ofﬁce, respectively)

Number of brokerage and renovated condominium
sales in regional areas*
*Formerly area of Anabuki Real Estate Center

160 units

680
541

Oshima Sales
Ofﬁce (Tokyo)
*Opens January 22
Mikawa-Anjo
Branch (Aichi)

Utsunomiya Sales
Ofﬁce (Tochigi)

*Opens March 12
Esaka Branch
(Osaka)

35 units

Gotanda Branch
(Tokyo)

Nishijin Branch
(Fukuoka)
*Opens May 12

425
4 units

*Opens May 12
Chitose-Funabashi
Branch (Tokyo)

Tamachi Branch
(Tokyo; renovated)

Renovated condominium
unit sales

Number of brokerage
transactions handled
(Condominiums)
2015/3

2016/3

2017/3 (Target)

*Opens April 29
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Daikyo Group’s Brands

Lions Mansion

Daikyo’s Lions Mansion brand of new condominiums refers to the
lion’s strong instinct for family and reﬂects our desire to create residences that nurture family ties in stately surroundings. We built our
ﬁrst Lions Mansion condominium in 1968, and have supplied more
than 6,300 residential buildings under that brand since then.

http://lions-mansion.jp/

Surpass

KAGAYAKI NO TOKI

The Surpass brand of new condominiums is built by Anabuki
Construction, which completed its ﬁrst condominium residence in
1978. The company has since built more than 1,300 buildings, mainly
in suburban areas. Its business model integrates everything from construction to sales.

http://www.384.co.jp/

This is the brand name for Daikyo Group’s serviced condominiums that enable aging residents to live comfortably and
happily in their latter years.

http://sumai.daikyo.co.jp/kagayaki/nakano
http://www.384.co.jp/ritsurin/

A brand of detached houses that Daikyo and Anabuki Construction inaugurated in 2011
as the fruit of their expertise and solid track records in condominium development.

Alion Terrace
(Daikyo)

22

http://lions-mansion.jp/sumai/special/house/
http://www.384.co.jp/384home/
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Surpass Home
(Surpass Town)
(Anabuki Construction)

（リノアルファ）

Renoα

This is a brand of renovated condominiums from DAIKYO
ANABUKI REAL ESTATE, which inspects living quarters and
resells units. It provides guarantees for existing and new utilities
after residents move in.

http://www.daikyo-anabuki.co.jp/renoalpha/

Kurashi Square

Surpass net

Daikyo Group’s Brands

DAIKYO ASTAGE maintains this condominium information site for condominium owners
using its management services.
The site was launched in August 2011 to inform residents about events in their
buildings, post maintenance work details, provide notiﬁcation of regularly scheduled
inspections, manage records, and sell housing-related goods.

https://www.kurashi-s.jp/

Anabuki Community Inc. offers this online connection service and site for the residents
of condominiums that it manages.
The tablets that the company distributes to new unit residents enable them to access
the Internet without PCs. The service also includes management association operations,
management contract, and other residential information, as well as learning content for
parents and children.

https://www.384.jp/member/pc/login.php

Plusidea, combining the words “plus” and “idea”, is the brand name for repair and
renovation services based on the concept of providing better ideas for living. The repairs
extend beyond maintaining quality to include proposing and undertaking work to create
more comfortable living environments based on the combined input of management
associations, residents, property management and construction ﬁrms.

Plusidea

http://www.daikyo-astage.co.jp/plusidea /

This is DAIKYO REFORM . DESIGN’s brand of tastefully designed, highly functional
ﬁxtures. Offerings include kitchen lines and cupboards, and bathroom vanities.

LRIOR

http://l-reform.jp/pickup/lrior/index.html

This is the brand name for renovated condominium buildings from DAIKYO ANABUKI
REAL ESTATE. While the approach with Renoα is to renovate living areas of units before
reselling them, the GRANDINNO focus is on buying land and buildings, including
common areas, reselling after renovating units and common areas as needed.
GRANDINNO is a moniker of “grand innovation.”

GRANDINNO

http://www.daikyo-anabuki.co.jp/grandinno/
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Corporate Value Foundation / CSR/Corporate Governance

We drew on our Group management philosophy that encompasses our raison d’être, management approach, and
code of conduct in drafting our corporate governance structure. By fulﬁlling our corporate social responsibilities
in terms of social and economic value, we are moving forward with CSR activities while endeavoring to enhance
corporate value.

Social value
(contributing to society)

3. Social contribution as
a corporate citizen

1. Solving social problems
though our business

Employee participation

Page

The social
responsibilities that
companies must
minimally fulfill

27

Page

25

4. Corporate governance

2. Co-prosperity with

(compliance, risk management
and legal compliance)

employees and
business partners

Group
management
philosophy

Page

28

Page

26

Economic value (contributing to companies earnings)

Raison d’etre
Management approach

The social responsibilities that
companies must minimally fulfill

Code of conduct

Corporate social responsibility is about going beyond the pursuit of profits to assume responsibility for the social impact of
corporate activities and make decisions that accommodate all stakeholders, including consumers, investors, and society
at large.

24
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1.

Solving social problems though our business
Social Issues

Solutions marketed by the Daikyo Group

Growing number of aging
condominiums
Increasing vacancy rates
Changing preferences, away
from the dated and rundown
(Floor plan changes)

Examples of Daikyo Group’s initiatives
Revitalizing and
enhancing property value

Redevelopment
Reconstruction

Changing lifestyles and living
environment preferences
Growing number of elderly
residents
From family to singleresident living (Growing
number of single-occupant
households)

Self-contained
communities,
co-existence, and
matching of products/
services/people

Community
Disaster prevention
Vacation rentals
Serviced housing for senior citizens

Environmental issues
Energy problems
Disasters

Driving sustainability

Green energy
Passive design

Renovations (revitalizing residences)

Redevelopment

Number of renovated
condominium units sold

1,236

1,056
827

2014/3

2015/3

Reconstruction

We have a strong track record in regional
redevelopment initiatives around Japan,
and believe these to be important for
the revitalization of regions beyond the
nation’s three largest cities.

Lions Ichijo Tower Gifu,
a redeveloped property near
a train station

2016/3

CSR/Corporate Governance

The stock of condominiums in Japan
exceeds six million units, and it has
become important to enhance the
quality of aging properties. Daikyo
responded to this situation by launching
the Renoα brand of renovated condominiums to fully enter the residential
revitalization business. We renovated
more than 1,000 units in ﬁscal 2014.

Renovations

Community

We leverage the Group’s knowledge
and support structure to assist condominium owner groups looking to reconstruct as alternative to renovating aged
structures.

The Daikyo Group conducts events to
reinforce connections between residents and also takes part in community
events.

Reconstruction seminar

Event at condominium property
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Vacation rentals (ensuring effective
use of vacant properties)

Building disaster prevention awareness
The Daikyo Group has leveraged its more
than 40 years of experience as a provider
of housing to undertake Groupwide
efforts to provide restoration support
following a major disaster.
We engage in various initiatives to help
ensure resident safety, distributing disaster manuals to management associations
and conducting d
 isaster drills.

Disaster preparedness manuals for
management associations

Serviced housing for senior citizens
More than 40 years have passed since
Daikyo began condominium development. We believe that we ought to propose ways whereby the growing number
of aging residents can live comfortably in KAGAYA NO TOKI Nakano Minamidai in
their later years. In 2014, we accordingly the Nakano district of Tokyo, our first
began providing serviced housing for the serviced condominiums for the elderly
elderly. We plan to operate about 60
such buildings over the next 10 years.

2.

TABI-IE service mark

Planning and deploying architectural
designs that incorporate green energy
In keeping with its aim of creating environment-friendly housing, Daikyo employs
construction techniques that adopt solar,
wind, and other energy sources to make
interiors more comfortable.
We started fully employing this
approach from 2009, deploying energy- Special hooks installed on the top of a
saving facilities to reduce summer electric- balcony for growing a green wall
ity charges for air-conditioning by 30%
and lowering indoor temperatures by an
average of 4.9°C during July.
Daikyo earned a Good Design Award
in 2015 for this energy-saving system.

Co-prosperity with employees and business partners
Awarded Kurumin Mark Certification

Information-sharing club for childcare leave community

Daikyo has obtained Kurumin Mark Certification from the Ministry of
Health, Labour and Welfare of Japan in recognition of outstanding
efforts based on the Act on Advancement of Measures to Support
Raising Next-Generation Children.

As part of efforts to create a working climate that makes it easy for
childcare leave takers to return to work, the Daikyo Group inaugurated
the information-sharing club for employees taking such leave and all
those who have returned to work and are balancing childcare and professional commitments. Support includes interviews with supervisors
for women planning to return to work and work that draws on the
unique perspectives these women bring to their tasks.

Number of employees taking childcare leave

Number of participants in
childcare leave community

2014/3
2015/3
2016/3

26

Daikyo started its original vacation rental
business in Okinawa in January 2015
to contribute to more effective use of
properties by reducing the number of
condominium vacancies, under our

concept of “the light always shines from
the windows.” Also, by 2020, we plan
to have 300 units occupied during periods when second-home owners are not
using them.
We look to ultimately expand these
operations beyond Okinawa.

97 (including 3 males)
88 (including 4 males)
105 (including 9 males)

2014
2015
2016

29
31
26

Corporate university

Open courses through
the Learning Cafe

The Daikyo Group’s top management
team passes on knowledge and engages
in dialogue to convey management perspectives, swiftly cultivating young and
mid-level employees who will eventually
oversee the Group.

Seasoned front-line professionals lecture
on various subjects in these classes. We
hold these classes periodically as tools to
cultivate a corporate culture of continuous
learning, self-actualization and interaction
to enhance job satisfaction.
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3.

Social contribution as a corporate citizen

Ofﬁcial partner of Japanese Para-Sports Association (JPSA)
Under its management philosophy of “creating a harmonious living environment through housing products and services
that satisfy the needs of all age groups and lifestyles,” the Daikyo Group strives to develop housing that nurtures bonds
between families and residents. To this end, we concluded an agreement to become an ofﬁcial partner of the Japanese
Para-Sports Association (JPSA), reﬂecting our desire to help JPSA realize a “society in which everyone can enjoy the
value of sports” and a “vibrant, symbiotic society.” Seeking to build a harmonious society that fosters bonds between
people, we will work with the JPSA to support sports for the disabled through dissemination and promotion activities.

Selling baked goods in-house

Supporting efforts to protect women
and children

Since 2008, Daikyo has collaborated with
a nonproﬁt organization near its head
ofﬁce in holding regular in-house sales of
cookies, pound cakes, and other baked
goods made by intellectually challenged
people. We have recently sold the cookies daily with coffee that such employees
brew. Such activities are spreading to
western Japan and elsewhere around
the country.

We gather PET bottle caps in-house
which the Cap-no-Chokinbako Promotion Network then put toward raising
money for vaccines for children in developing countries. We also collect used
postage stamps for the Japanese Organization for International Cooperation in
Family Planning, which safeguards the
lives of women worldwide during pregnancy and childbirth.

Ofﬁce open-house for employees’ kids

Hosting student visits and holding vocational classes

We hold open-house days for employees’ children during their summer
holidays to help them better understand
their parents’ work and begin thinking
about their own future careers.

The Group fosters students’ interest in and awareness of its products
and services by exposing them to potential future occupations.

● Student visit program

Providing private sector training for
teachers
The Japan Institute for Social and Economic Affairs organized a program in
which teachers take private sector training to deepen their understanding of
corporate activities and enhance their
skills, sharing their knowledge in classes
and in school operations. The Daikyo
Group conducted training for 10 elementary and junior high school teachers
in Yokohama City, Kanagawa Prefecture
on a total of two occasions in 2015.

● Vocational classes for university
students
Daikyo executives and employees share
practical information in these classes.
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This program is mainly for high school
and younger students, and outlines
operations at our business sites.
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4.

Corporate Governance

In an effort to further strengthen its corporate governance system,
the Daikyo Group shifted to a “Company with Committees”
system in June 2005 (currently, “Company with Nominating
Committee”), after approval was received at the Ordinary General
Meeting of Shareholders held that same month.
Under this system, supervisory functions are separated from
executive functions in order to reinforce the system of checks
and balances and accelerate the decision-making process.

Moreover, Daikyo is actively strengthening risk management by
carrying out such measures as enhancing the compliance
framework. Through these measures, the Company aims to
cooperate appropriately with all stakeholders, and endeavors to
ensure fair treatment of shareholders and actively engage in
constructive dialogue with them.

1. Corporate Structure and Internal Control System

(1) Corporate Governance Structure
Board of Directors
Daikyo’s Board of Directors, which is composed of seven
directors (three of whom were appointed from outside the Group)
as of June 22, 2016, makes decisions on important management issues and oversees the activities of its executive ofﬁcers.
Under the Companies Act, the board of directors of a Company
with Nominating Committee is broadly allowed to delegate
authority to management, and Daikyo’s Board of Directors does
so to the utmost extent. However, the Board of Directors makes
judgments on matters of high importance, such as business
plans and capital policies, and matters of asset acquisition and
disposal, which are likely to have an important impact on management. The Board of Directors met on eight occasions during the
ﬁscal period under review. The director attendance rate at these
meetings was 96%.
Nominating Committee
The Nominating Committee, which is composed of ﬁve directors
(including three appointed from outside the Group) as of June 22,
2016, has the authority to decide on nominations for director at
the Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders and the right to
deliberate the selection of important executives, such as
executive ofﬁcers and the representative executive ofﬁcer. The
Nominating Committee met on ﬁve occasions during the ﬁscal
period under review. The director attendance rate at these
meetings was 96%.
Audit Committee
As of June 22, 2016, the Audit Committee is composed of three
outside directors who evaluate the activities of executive ofﬁcers
and the Company’s internal control system. This evaluation is
based on reports on the business and affairs of the Company
presented by the representative executive ofﬁcer, results of
internal audits and reports relating to overall internal control
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presented by the executive ofﬁcer in charge of the Group Audit
Department, and accounting audit reports presented by the
independent accounting auditor. The Audit Committee maintains
a structure of cooperation that enables it to direct audits and
investigations as required. The Audit Committee met on ﬁve
occasions during the ﬁscal period under review. The director
attendance rate at these meetings was 93%.
Furthermore, Audit Committee member Takahiko Inoue has
experience working in a city bank and in a ﬁnancial and accounting advisory ﬁrm, and therefore has considerable insight regarding
ﬁnance and accounting.
Compensation Committee
The Compensation Committee, which is composed of ﬁve
directors (including three appointed from outside the Group) as of
June 22, 2016, has rights to set policy with regard to director and
executive remuneration and to determine the individual remuneration of each director and executive ofﬁcer. The Compensation
Committee met on ﬁve occasions during the ﬁscal period under
review. The director attendance rate at these meetings was 96%.
Group Management Meetings
Matters of importance to the running of the Group’s business
affairs are systematically deliberated and decided upon at Group
Management Meetings attended by executive and other ofﬁcers
and held in principle once a month. In addition, Business Division
Meetings attended by executive and other ofﬁcers are held in
principle once a week to deliberate and determine important
proposals relating to the Group’s condominium development and
sales business.
A review of risk management system responses related to
business and administration is carried out at Group Management
Meetings and Business Division Meetings, where the status of
each risk is analyzed and a complete picture of the current risk
management status is formed.

(2) Compliance System
Daikyo has established the Group Compliance Consultation
System and other structures and developed a framework, namely,
the Compliance Help Desk for investigating, responding to, and
correcting violations of laws, internal regulations, and social
norms. In addition, Daikyo has established the Group Legal and
Compliance Department, an organization responsible for compliance promotion that is working to establish and maintain a
compliance framework.

(3) Risk Management System

(4) Internal Audit System
The Group Audit Department, which comprises nineteen
members as of April 1, 2016, is responsible for internal audits.
The department puts business audit plans into effect and reports
on the results of the audits to the Audit Committee. In addition,
the Audit Committee maintains a framework of cooperation that
enables it to direct the Audit Committee Secretariat or the Group
Audit Department to conduct audits, investigations and other
activities, as necessary. As well as giving suggestions and
guidance on areas of improvement to departments undergoing
audits, the Audit Committee works to improve the effectiveness
of internal controls.

We have instituted administrative rules for Group companies,
requiring them to seek prior approval for important management
matters.
We constantly monitor for conﬂicts of interest or unusual
transactions between the parent and subsidiaries, with executive
ofﬁces reporting as needed to the Audit Committee.
The Group Audit Department internally audits or advises Group
companies, presenting its results of audits and other activities to
the Audit Committee while endeavoring to increase the effectiveness of internal controls by pointing out areas requiring improvement by providing instruction to audited business units.
The Legal and Compliance Department oversees risk management for the Group while obtaining reports from Group companies
on adverse incidents and providing instructions as needed.

(6) Accounting Audit
In accordance with the Japanese Corporate Law and Financial
Instruments and Exchange Law, Daikyo has concluded an
auditing contract with KPMG AZSA LLC (a member ﬁrm of the
KPMG network) for the auditing of the Company’s accounts. In
addition to regular audits, Daikyo strives to hold proper discussions, ensure conﬁrmation with KPMG AZSA and to perform fair
accounting procedures with regard to accounting issues.
There are no conﬂicts of interest between Daikyo and the
independent auditing company or its employees engaged in the
audits of the Company’s accounts.
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Daikyo evaluates and manages risks across a variety of categories, including real estate market risks, business risks and disaster
risks. The Group Legal and Compliance Department, which
coordinates risk management methods based on monitoring
activities, as well as feedback and reports from each department,
regularly reports on information necessary to risk management to
the representative executive ofﬁcer as well as to the Audit
Committee, with proposals to improve the Group’s risk
management system.

(5) Systems to Ensure the Proper Operation of the Company and its
Subsidiaries

Name of the Certiﬁed Public Accountants (CPAs) engaged in the audits
of ﬁnancial statements for the ﬁscal year under review
Designated and Engagement Partners:
Yukio Kumaki, Takaki Okano
Composition of the team of assistants who help with the auditing of the
ﬁnancial statements for the ﬁscal year under review
CPAs: 19; others: 29
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(7) Relationships Between Outside Directors and the Company (Tables 1, 2)
Outside Directors: 3
Table 1. Relationships with the Company
Relationships with the Company*
Name

Type

a

Toru Hambayashi

Coming from another company

b

c

d

e

f

g

h

i

j

k

Tomoharu Washio Professor
Takahiko Inoue

Coming from another company

* Selection criteria regarding relationship with the Company.
is used if the individual in question is applicable to each item, current or recent, while is used if he/she was applicable in the past.
is used if a relative of the individual in question is applicable to each item, current or recent, while is used if he/she was applicable in the past.
a. Person executing business of the listed company or its subsidiary
b. Person executing business or non-executive director of the parent of the listed company
c. Person executing business of a fellow subsidiary of the listed company
d. Person/entity dealing with the listed company as its major business partner or the person executing its business
e. Major business partner of the listed company or the person executing its business
f. Consultant, accounting expert or legal expert gaining significant an amount of money or properties from the listed company, apart from officer remuneration
g. Major shareholder of the listed company (if such shareholder is a corporation, the person executing its business)
h. Person executing business (himself or herself only) of a business partner of the listed company (applicable to none of d, e or f above)
i. Person executing business (himself or herself only) of another company holding cross-directorships/cross-auditorships with the listed company
j. Person executing business (himself or herself only) of an entity to which the listed company provides donations
k. Others

Table 2. Relationships with the Company
Affiliation committee
Name

Toru Hambayashi

Nominating
Committee

○

Compensation
Committee

○

Audit
Committee

○

Independent
director

○

Supplemental explanations for applicable items
The Tokyo Stock Exchange was notified of
Mr. Hambayashi’s independent director status, as
stipulated by the Securities Listing Regulations,
since he meets the Company’s independence
criteria and is not at risk of creating conflicts of
interest with general shareholders.
Major concurrent posts: outside director of FAST
RETAILING CO., LTD., outside director of Maeda
Corporation, and outside director of Unitika Ltd.

Tomoharu Washio

○

○

○

○

The Tokyo Stock Exchange was notified of
Mr. Washio’s independent director status, as stipulated by the Securities Listing Regulations, since he
meets the Company’s independence criteria and is
not at risk of creating conflicts of interest with
general shareholders.
Major concurrent posts: Fellow, Kwansei Gakuin
University, councilor at the Japan External Trade
Organization (JETRO), and councilor at the Institute
for International Policy Studies (IIPS)

Takahiko Inoue

○

○

○

○

Mr. Inoue fulfills the Company’s criteria for independence. The Tokyo Stock Exchange was notified of
Mr. Inoue’s independent director status, as stipulated by the Securities Listing Regulations, since he
is not at risk of creating conflicts of interest with
general shareholders. He is also a member of the
New Japan Philharmonic, of which the Company is
a sponsor. However, the contributions the Company
makes to the symphony orchestra are significantly
lower than 2% of the Company’s and the symphony
orchestra’s consolidated operating income. He is
also a former employee of PwC Advisory LLC, and
although there have been some minor dealings
between the Company and PwC Advisory over the
past three years, the amount of the transactions
was significantly lower than the Company’s and
PwC Advisory’s operating income.
Major concurrent posts: Intendant of New Japan
Philharmonic
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Reasons for selection as independent director
if applicable
Mr. Hambayashi was long a representative director
at Nichimen Corporation and Sojitz Corporation. He
has extensive international expertise, and still serves
as a Senior Economic Consultant in the People’s
Republic of China. We appointed Mr. Hambayashi
as an independent director to leverage his international experience in monitoring the Company’s management during globalization. We also seek his
opinion and advice on ways to expand the Daikyo
Group and improve shareholder value.
Mr. Washio has an extensive international background, having worked for JETRO for many years
and being posted abroad for a long time. The
Company appointed Mr. Washio as an independent
director to draw on his international expertise in
overseeing and advising on the Group’s global
business development.

Mr. Inoue has experience working in a city bank and
a financial and accounting advisory firm, thus he
possesses considerable knowledge of finance and
accounting. Moreover, he has developed a discerning eye for business through his involvement in project finance and advisory services for infrastructure
projects in Japan and overseas. The Company has
appointed him as an independent director to draw
on his opinions and advice on ways to expand the
Daikyo Group and improve s hareholder value.

(8) Related Party Transactions

(12) Number of Directors

The Company has determined that when conducting transactions with ofﬁcers of the Company, the transactions will be
conducted under the same conditions as for an ordinary
customer and that selection of business partners shall be fair,
transparent, and in accordance with Group Business Partner
Selection Regulations. In principle, the Company’s policy is to
disclose important transactions with related parties.
Furthermore, in transactions with major shareholders, the
Company examines each transaction with respect to proﬁtability,
importance, and transparency. Transactions with the Company’s
ofﬁcers that are considered to be self-dealing or pose a conﬂict of
interest require the approval of the Board of Directors.
Transactions with related parties other than the Company itself
are also subject to approval by the Board of Directors.

The Company’s Articles of Incorporation stipulate that the number
of directors of the Company shall be three or more.

(9) Resolution Required for Election of Directors

(14) Shares with Restricted Voting Rights

Daikyo’s Articles of Incorporation stipulate that resolutions for the
election of directors shall be adopted by a majority vote of the
shareholders present who hold one-third or more of the total of
the voting rights of shareholders entitled to exercise voting rights.
The Articles of Incorporation stipulate that cumulative voting shall
not be used for resolutions concerning the election of directors.

To inhibit the dilutive effect of increasing common stock as much
as possible, while at the same time strengthening its capital base,
the Company issued Class 1 preferred stock, which differs from
common stock in that it possesses no voting rights. Restrictions
on the execution of voting rights in classiﬁed stock are deﬁned in
Article 108, Paragraph 1, 3, of Japanese Corporate Law.
However, the shareholder of Class 1 preferred stock (“Preferred
Shareholder”) may exercise voting rights at a General Meeting of
Shareholders where no reported item or proposal with regard to
a Preferred Shareholder receiving year-end preferred dividends is
submitted, or from the time when this meeting of shareholders is
concluded after a proposal concerning a Preferred Shareholder
receiving preferred dividends was dismissed, until a Board of
Directors’ meeting or General Meeting of Shareholders resolves
that a Preferred Shareholder shall receive year-end preferred
dividends.

(10) Decision-Making Body for Dividend Payments

To enable directors and executive ofﬁcers to demonstrate that
they are sufﬁciently fulﬁlling their duties in the roles expected of
them and as stipulated under Daikyo’s Articles of Incorporation,
the Company may, in accordance with Article 426, Paragraph 1,
of the Japanese Corporate Law and by resolution of the Board of
Directors, exempt directors (including former directors) and
executive ofﬁcers (including former executive ofﬁcers) from liability set forth in Article 423, Paragraph 1, of the law to the extent
permitted in accordance with laws and regulations.

(11) Requirements for Extraordinary Resolutions at General
Shareholders’ Meetings and Class Shareholders’ Meetings
As stipulated under the Articles of Incorporation, matters which
shall be passed by an extraordinary resolution at General
Shareholders’ Meetings, as provided for under Article 309,
Paragraph 2, of the Japanese Corporate Law, and at Class
Shareholders’ Meetings, as provided for under Article 324,
Paragraph 2, may be approved by two-thirds or more of the
voting rights of the shareholders in attendance at the meetings,
at which shareholders having one-third or more of the total of the
voting rights of all shareholders entitled to exercise their voting
rights must be in attendance. This serves to ensure the smooth
running of these meetings by alleviating the need for a quorum to
be present for an extraordinary resolution to be taken.
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To enable Daikyo to make ﬂexible dividend payments, and as
stipulated under Daikyo’s Articles of Incorporation, the Company
may—unless otherwise provided for by laws and regulations—
make decisions concerning dividend payments and any other
matters set forth in Article 459, Paragraph 1, of the Japanese
Corporate Law by Resolution of the Board of Directors and not
by resolutions made at shareholders’ meetings.

(13) Director and Executive Exemptions from Liability
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(15) Other Special Circumstances which May Signiﬁcantly Affect
the Company’s Corporate Governance
Between the Daikyo Group and the ORIX Group, there are sales
transactions that include joint businesses relating to condominium and commission sales. In terms of personal relationships,
one Daikyo Group director was concurrently a director of the

ORIX Group, while two directors (two at the Company’s subsidiaries) were from the ORIX Group. At the same time, the Company
operates independently to maximize corporate value. As personal
relationships with ORIX Corporation are not so close as to
inﬂuence the Company’s management decisions, the Company
deems that it maintains a certain degree of independence.

Corporate Governance Structure
Selection / dismissal of Directors

Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders

SUPERVISORY FUNCTIONS

EXECUTIVE FUNCTIONS

Board of Directors

President and Representative Executive Ofﬁcer
Selection/dismissal of
executive ofﬁcers
Oversight reporting

Selection/dismissal of
committee members

Executive ofﬁcers
Group Management Meeting

Reporting

Business Division Meeting

Collective efforts

Audit Committee

Group Audit Department

(Evaluates activities of executive ofﬁcers)

Monitoring

Audit Committee Secretariat

Group Legal and Compliance Dept.
Group General Affairs Dept.

Nominating Committee

Group Personnel Dept.

(Nominates directors)

Group Accounting Dept.
Compensation Committee
(Determines compensation for directors)
Condominium Development and Sales Div.
Business checks-and-balances system
Business support
Collective efforts

Independent Auditor

Accounting audit report

Business promotion

Reporting occurrences of risk

Group subsidiaries

32

DAIKYO INCORPORATED REPORT 2016

Reporting

Group Compliance Consultation System

2. Total Amount of Compensation for Directors and Executive Ofﬁcers

(1) Policy Concerning the Determination of Ofﬁcers’ Compensation
1. Compensation System
In order to achieve mid- to long-term increases in shareholder
value, emphasis is placed not only on current performance but
also on mid- to long-term results when determining compensation for directors and executive ofﬁcers of the Company, and it is
believed to effectively function as an incentive. In deciding the
amount of compensation, the Company considers the balance
with the employee wage levels and executive compensation
levels at other companies and sets compensation at an appropriate level in accordance with the roles and responsibilities that
directors should fulﬁll to realize the vision to which the Group
aspires.

2. Structure of Compensation
Compensation comprises three parts: ﬁxed compensation,
performance-based compensation and share price-related
compensation. Performance-based compensation is determined
and paid according to the performance of the Company and
consolidated subsidiaries. Share price-related compensation
consists of compensation paid in cash or shares of stock at the
time of retirement in an amount calculated by multiplying the total
of a certain number of points granted to directors each year by
the share price.

(2) Compensation Paid to Directors and Executive Ofﬁcers in the Fiscal Year Under Review

For the year ended March 31, 2016

Classiﬁcation

Number of
persons

Fixed
compensation
(Millions of yen)

Performance-base Share price-related
compensation
compensation
(Millions of yen)

(Millions of yen)

Total amount
(Millions of yen)

Directors (internal)

4

9

1

0

10

Directors (outside)

4

17

—

1

19

Executive ofﬁcers

13

157

55

46

257

Total

21

181

56

48

286
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Notes: 1. Compensation for the three executive ofﬁcers concurrently serving as directors is segmented and stated in compensation for directors
(internal) and executive ofﬁcers, respectively. The number of executive ofﬁcers concurrently serving as directors is stated as both directors
(internal) and executive ofﬁcers.
2. The point-based compensation in the above share price-related compensation in the ﬁscal year under review is the difference between the
amount calculated by multiplying the points held by incumbent directors at the end of the ﬁscal year under review by the average closing
price of Daikyo’s common stock on the Tokyo Stock Exchange during the ﬁrst 30 trading days starting from the 45th trading day preceding
the last day of the ﬁscal year under review and the amount calculated in the same way on the last day of the previous ﬁscal year. Share
price-related compensation for directors retiring during the year under review, is the difference between the amount calculated by multiplying the similarly calculated amount at the end of the previous ﬁscal year by the average closing price of Daikyo’s common stock on the Tokyo
Stock Exchange during the ﬁrst 30 trading days starting from the 45th trading day preceding the retirement date.
3. In addition to the above, as ﬁnal payment for retirement beneﬁts, one outside director who retired in the ﬁscal year under review received ¥0
million, while one executive ofﬁcer received ¥3 million, and one internal director who retired in ﬁscal 2013 received ¥0 million.
4. The above amounts do not include salaries for employees who are also executive ofﬁcers.

(3) The Total Value of Compensation of Each Ofﬁcer of the Company
Not stated because there are no personnel with a total compensation of ¥100 million or more.
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3. Types of Shares Held

(2) Type of Holding, Issuer, Number, Amount on Non-Consolidated
Balance Sheet, and Purpose of Investment Shares Held for
Purposes Other than Pure Investment

(1) Investment Shares Held Not Solely for the Purpose of
Investment
There are no applicable shares.

There are no applicable shares.

(3) Investment Shares Held Solely for the Purpose of Investment
For the year ended
March 31, 2015
(Millions of yen)

For the year ended March 31, 2016
(Millions of yen)
Total amount of valuation gain or loss

Total reported on
non-consolidated
balance sheets

Unlisted shares
Shares other than
unlisted shares

Total reported on
non-consolidated
balance sheets

Total dividends
received

Total gain or loss
on sales

Total reported on
non-consolidated
balance sheets

Impairment
accounting

109

109

1

—

—

—

1,123

1,074

16

9

582

—

4. Total Amount of Compensation for Auditors

(1) Compensation Paid to Auditors in the Fiscal Year Under Review
For the year ended March 31, 2015
(Millions of yen)
Classiﬁcation

Daikyo (non-consolidated)
Consolidated subsidiaries
Total

For the year ended March 31, 2016
(Millions of yen)

Compensation for
audit certification services

Compensation for
other services

Compensation for
audit certiﬁcation services

Compensation for
other services

163
72
235

—
—
—

156
64
220

—
—
—

Note: Compensation for audit certiﬁcation services includes compensation for services requested from the independent auditor of the parent company.

(2) Other Important Details Concerning Compensation
There are no notable matters.
5. Details of Non-Audit Operations of the Company of
Certiﬁed Public Accountants
There are no notable matters.

6. Policy on the Determination of Auditors’ Compensation
No particular policy for the determination of compensation for
the Company’s certiﬁed public accountants and assistants has
been speciﬁed, rather it is determined by considering the
number of days reasonably deemed to be required, based on
the scale of the Company’s business.
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7. Other
Adoption of takeover defense measures: None

Comment from an Outside Director

Now is the opportunity for the Daikyo
Group to grow.
The whole Company is working together
to rise to the challenge.
Toru Hambayashi
Outside Director,
Member of the Nominating Committee and
Compensation Committee, and Member and
Chair of the Auditing Committee

Impression of the Daikyo Group

The Daikyo Group’s Strengths
Having served as an outside director for several other companies,
I would say the solid capital and ﬁnancial foundation that the
Daikyo Group has today is a major strength for the Company. I
remember well the unstoppable momentum behind Daikyo’s
growth when it was ﬁrst founded, and at the time I had some
concerns about whether the pace could be sustained. All
companies have ups and downs due to the economic environment at the time and other factors, and even companies that are
increasing their sales and earnings vary in their degree of growth.
Although there were some twists and turns along the way,
subsequent changes in management direction enabled the
Company to make good progress, which is evident now in the
Company’s strong capital and stable ﬁnancial base. I now expect
the Group to utilize its strengths and take new paths to growth.

Duties as an Outside Director
In carrying out my duties as an outside director, I strive to give
appropriate advice to and supervise ofﬁcers executing business,
and to increase opportunities to interact with those responsible
for frontline business execution as much as I can. I am particularly

aware that I still have much to share from my perspectives and
experience as a business manager, and by creating opportunities
for direct discussion with those on the front line, I believe I can
fulﬁll the role of understanding employees’ thoughts and telling
them to management. I intend to make even greater efforts in this
area for the Daikyo Group.

Expectations for the Daikyo Group
One of my expectations for the Daikyo Group is that it should
actively take on various kinds of challenges. There are many
problems facing Japan today, such as the declining birthrate and
aging population and the problem of empty houses. There are
also many issues that relate to the Group’s businesses. However,
despite the situation continuously changing from moment to
moment, if the Group focuses on “what we can do now” and
“what we can only do now,” it can discover many opportunities.
For example, the Group is currently promoting redevelopment
projects and reconstruction projects that have tremendous social
signiﬁcance and I think it should continue to pursue this direction
actively.
I would also like all of the Company’s directors, executive
ofﬁcers, and employees to reafﬁrm the current environment
surrounding the Group and the Group’s strengths, and having
decided ﬁrmly on the best way forward, take on new challenges
for the next phase of growth. Management, by its very nature,
must take on challenges, and it is natural that this will engender
a certain level of risk. However, the Group today has the strength
to take on those risks. It also has outstanding personnel.
Employees should show even more determination to inspire
management to take on new challenges.
I expect directors, executives, and employees to work together
to create businesses that will drive the Group in the future. And I
hope to support them in this endeavor.
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I was appointed outside director at Daikyo in June 2011. I actually
had connections with past presidents of Daikyo, and I remember
both good times and bad in the history of the Company’s
management situation.
My impression of the Daikyo Group prior to being appointed an
outside director was that it had many deeply loyal employees. I
still have that impression now after becoming outside director.
From my experience as a business manager, an companies that
have a lot of employees of the kind Daikyo has are certain to
grow, provided there are no mistakes in the management strategy
or its measures and methods.
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Directors and Executive Officers

Directors

Katsutoshi Kadowaki*

Akira Yamaguchi*

April 1977

April 1979
July 1998
June 1999
April 2005
June 2005
June 2007
October 2008

September 2012
June 2013
June 2014
June 2014

Joined Orient Leasing Co., Ltd. (now ORIX
Corporation)
Corporate Executive Vice President
Director and Corporate Executive Vice President
Director, Chairman and Representative Executive
Ofﬁcer of DAIKYO INCORPORATED (current)
Member of Nominating and Compensation
committees (current)

June 2010
June 2010
June 2014

Tsukasa Kimura*

Kazuhiko Kaise

January 1989

April 1981
April 2005
June 2007
June 2010

July 2007
September 2008
November 2008
June 2009
June 2013
January 2016
June 2016
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Joined DAIKYO INCORPORATED
Chief General Manager of North Kanto Branch
Director
Director and Managing Executive Ofﬁcer
Director, Corporate Senior Vice President
Director, Corporate Executive Vice President
Representative Director and President of FUSO
LEXEL INCORPORATED
Director, President and Representative Executive
Ofﬁcer of DAIKYO INCORPORATED (current)
Member of Nominating and Compensation
committees (current)
Representative Director and President of
DAIKYO ASTAGE INCORPORATED (current)

Joined Orient Leasing Co., Ltd. (now ORIX
Corporation)
Deputy Head of Investment Banking
Headquarters
Assistant to President and Chief Executive
Ofﬁcer of the Company
Corporate Executive Vice President
Director and Corporate Executive Vice President
Executive Ofﬁcer of ORIX Corporation
Corporate Executive Vice President of the
Company
Director of DAIKYO INCORPORATED (current)
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January 2012

June 2013

Joined DAIKYO INCORPORATED
Senior Managing Executive Ofﬁcer
Director, Corporate Executive Vice President
Representative Director and Vice President of
DAIKYO ASTAGE INCORPORATED
Representative Director and President of
DAIKYO REALDO INCORPORATED (now
DAIKYO ANABUKI REAL ESTATE
INCORPORATED)
Director of DAIKYO INCORPORATED (current)

Toru Hambayashi

Tomoharu Washio

April 1959

April 1970

April 1989
October 2000
April 2003
June 2004
November 2005
June 2007
June 2011
June 2011
June 2015

Joined Japan Cotton Trading Co., Ltd.
(predecessor of Nichimen Corporation)
Director
Representative Director and President
Chairman and co-CEO of Nissho Iwai-Nichimen
Holdings Corporation (now Sojitz Corporation)
Outside Corporate Auditor of Unitika Ltd.
(current)
Outside Director of FAST RETAILING CO., LTD.
(current)
Outside Director of MAEDA CORPORATION
(current)
Director of DAIKYO INCORPORATED (current)
Member of Nominating, Audit and
Compensation committees (current)
Outside Director of Unitika Ltd. (current)

April 1996

January 2002
April 2005
October 2008
October 2008
April 2010
June 2015
June 2015
April 2016

Joined Japan External Trade Association (now
Japan External Trade
Organization)
Member of Japan of Working Group on Trade
and Investment for ASEAN Economic Minister.
Minister of International Trade and Industry of
Japan Meeting
Representative of JETRO CHICAGO, Japan
External Trade Organization
General Manager of Overseas Investigation
Department
Special advisor
General Manager of International Affairs Dept.,
The Japan Economic Foundation
Professor at School of International Studies,
Kansai Gakuin University
Director of DAIKYO INCORPORATED (current)
Member of Nominating, Audit and
Compensation committees (current)
Fellow, Kansai Gakuin University (current)

Executive Ofﬁcers

President and Representative
Executive Director
Akira Yamaguchi*
Corporate Executive
Vice President

Tsukasa Kimura*

Takahiko Inoue

Corporate Executive
Vice President

Eiji Ochiai

April 1984

Managing Executive Ofﬁcer

Kunihiko Numanyu

Managing Executive Ofﬁcer

Katsumi Kubota

Executive Ofﬁcer

Yukihito Seri

Executive Ofﬁcer

Yoshihisa Fujihira

Executive Ofﬁcer

Masaki Ushizawa

Executive Ofﬁcer

Toshihisa Kimura

October 2001
January 2003
July 2013
April 2016
June 2016
June 2016

Joined The Sanwa Bank, Ltd. (now The Bank of
Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd.)
Leader, MBO Finance Team, Structured Finance
Department, The Sanwa Bank, Ltd.
Director, PPP and Privatization Division, PwC
FAS Co., Ltd. (currently PwC Advisory LLC)
Partner
Intendant of New Japan Philharmonic (current)
Director of DAIKYO INCORPORATED (current)
Member of Nominating, Audit and
Compensation committees (current)

*Indicates directors concurrently serving as executive ofﬁcers.
Note: Toru Hambayashi, Tomoharu Washio and Takahiko Inoue are outside directors pursuant to Japanese Corporate Law.

Directors and Executive Ofﬁcers

Chairman and Representative
Executive Ofﬁcer
Katsutoshi Kadowaki*

(As of July 22, 2016)

DAIKYO INCORPORATED REPORT 2016

37

Financial Section

38

DAIKYO
D
AIKYO
KYO IN
INCOR
INCORPORATED
ORPOR
PORATE
AT D RREPORT
EPORT
R 201
220166

39

Management’s Discussion & Analysis

44

10-Year Financial Summary

46

Consolidated Balance Sheets

48

Consolidated Statements of Income and
Comprehensive Income

49

Consolidated Statements of Changes
in Net Assets

51

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

52

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Management’s Discussion & Analysis

OVERVIEW

OPERATING RESULTS

During the ﬁscal year ended March 31, 2016, the Japanese
economy showed signs of intensifying uncertainties stemming
from a downward trend in emerging economies, yet still
continued holding to a path of gradual recovery aided by
factors such as an improving employment and income
environment along with measures taken by the government to
stimulate the economy.
The condominium market remained ﬁrm with housing
demand gaining support from factors such as low interest
rates and incentives to encourage home purchases, amid a
scenario of rising land prices particularly around metropolitan
areas along with construction expenses that remained high
despite previous upward momentum in such costs having
subsided.
In the real estate management market, we are seeing growing
cost consciousness and increasingly diverse customer
needs, which has helped give rise to greater sophistication
with respect to business operations beyond conventional
condominium and building management, and expansion of
services, with respect to areas such as those involving care for
the environment, energy-related management, and consulting.
The real estate brokerage market remained ﬁrm amid an
increase in numbers of sales contracts in comparison with
last year as a result of synergies brought about by rising
prices for new condominiums along with an increasing stock
of premium-quality existing residences, in conjunction with
shifting customer attitudes with respect to existing residences.

In this business environment, the Daikyo Group engaged
in initiatives that, as set forth in “Basic Plan on Housing” of
the Ministry of Land, Infrastructure, Transport and Tourism,
included making use of existing housing stock, redoubling
efforts to promote redevelopment and reconstruction projects
in part to address issues of Japan’s dwindling birth rate and
aging population, expanding the renovation business, and
taking on initiatives to supply serviced housing for the elderly.
Meanwhile, in the real estate brokerage business, we provided
new proposals and services in areas such as developing
integrated stores handling remodeling and launching services
that involve routine monitoring of vacant homes.
As a result, during the ﬁscal year under review, net sales
increased ¥17,699 million, or 5.6% year on year, to ¥334,853
million and operating income increased ¥194 million, or 1.1%,
to ¥18,318 million. Proﬁt attributable to owners of parent
increased ¥473 million, or 3.9% year on year, to ¥12,628
million.

RESULTS BY SEGMENT
The results are broken down by segment as follows. The amounts reported for each segment include intersegment sales.
In accordance with changes to the management structure, DAIKYO REFORM-DESIGN INCORPORATED has been shifted to
the real estate brokerage segment beginning with the current ﬁscal year, from the previous real estate management segment.
As such, the ﬁgures for the previous ﬁscal year presented in the table of year-on-year comparisons below have been restated to
reﬂect the segment classiﬁcations after the change.
Performance by Segment

Millions of yen
Fiscal year ended March 31, 2015

Fiscal year ended March 31, 2016

Change

Net Sales

Real Estate Development and Sales

120,712

10,121

122,211

8,667

1,498

(1,454)

Real Estate Management

151,246

8,218

162,821

9,664

11,574

1,445

Real Estate Brokerage

48,492

2,938

54,904

3,233

6,411

294

Adjustments (Eliminations or
Corporate Assets/Expenses)

(3,298)

(3,154)

(5,083)

(3,246)

(1,785)

(91)

317,154

18,124

334,853

18,318

17,699

194

Total

Net Sales

Operating
Income

Net Sales

Operating
Income
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Real Estate Development and Sales
With respect to condominium sales, although the number of
units sold decreased by 86 units year on year to 2,980 units,
sales increased by ¥1,378 million to ¥108,074 million largely
due to increasing prices of individual condominium units. As
a result, net sales in the real estate development and sales
segment rose by ¥1,498 million year on year to ¥122,211
million, but operating income decreased by ¥1,454 million to
¥8,667 million, largely due to a downturn in the proﬁt margin
on condominium sales.
The number and amount of contracted condominium sales
as of the end of the ﬁscal year were 1,520 units and ¥55,366
million, respectively, marking decreases of 505 units and
¥20,732 million compared with the end of the previous ﬁscal
year.
Major properties in terms of net sales (condominium
development and sales)
Lions Kohoku New Town Laurel Court
Lions Kamiotai Oasis Place
Lions Shinkoiwa Grandfort
Surpass Tower Higashishizuoka
Surpass Niigata Ekimae Residence

Yokohama, Kanagawa
Nagoya, Aichi
Edogawa-ku, Tokyo
ShizuokaCity, Shizuoka
Niigata City, Niigata

Real Estate Management
In the real estate management segment, net sales increased
by ¥11,574 million to ¥162,821 million year on year, while
operating income increased by ¥1,445 million to ¥9,664 million,
partially due to strong year-on-year increases in management
income of ¥2,415 million and contract work income of ¥8,335
million, to ¥84,092 million and ¥69,609 million, respectively.
At the end of the ﬁscal year, the number of condominium
units managed increased 3,964 units to 530,095 units and the
volume of contract work orders received was ¥25,050 million,
a decrease of ¥5,442 million compared with the end of the
previous ﬁscal year.
Real Estate Brokerage
In the real estate brokerage segment, net sales increased by
¥6,411 million year on year to ¥54,904 million, and operating
income increased ¥294 million to ¥3,233 million, partially due
to year-on-year increases in both real estate brokerage income
and existing real estate sales of ¥386 million and ¥6,307
million, to ¥7,840 million and ¥30,058 million, respectively.
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FINANCIAL CONDITION
TOTAL ASSETS
Total assets as of March 31, 2016 were ¥274,594 million, down
¥50,016 million compared with the end of the previous ﬁscal
year. This reﬂected factors including declines of ¥9,196 million
in cash and deposits, ¥26,064 million in securities, and ¥8,706
million in inventories.
LIABILITIES
Total liabilities were ¥108,503 million, down ¥59,618 million
compared with the end of the previous ﬁscal year. This resulted
from decreases of ¥18,413 million in notes and accounts
payable-trade, and ¥18,839 million in interest-bearing debt.
NET ASSETS
Net assets gained ¥9,602 million from the end of the previous
ﬁscal year to ¥166,090 million. This was attributable to an
increase of ¥10,025 million in retained earnings, which resulted
from proﬁt attributable to owners of parent for the ﬁscal year
under review of ¥12,628 million, offset by a corresponding
decrease of ¥2,603 million due to payment of dividends of
surplus. Furthermore, the shareholders’ equity ratio was
60.5%, which is 12.3 percentage points higher than the ratio
at the end of the previous ﬁscal year, and net assets per share
amounted to ¥192.86, an increase of ¥11.44.

CASH FLOWS
As of March 31, 2016, the Group had cash and cash equivalents
(hereinafter, “cash”) of ¥82,329 million, down ¥14,196 million
compared with the end of the previous ﬁscal year.
Net cash used in operating activities was ¥11,330 million,
compared with ¥20,079 million provided in the previous ﬁscal
year. This reﬂects such factors as increases in cash from
recording of income before income taxes of ¥17,003 million
and a reduction in inventories of ¥8,840 million, against
decreases in cash largely due to a decrease in deposits
received of ¥21,282 million and a decrease in notes and
accounts payable–trade of ¥18,411 million.
Net cash provided by investing activities was ¥18,683 million,
compared with ¥11,034 million used in the previous ﬁscal year.
This reﬂects such factors as a decrease in cash largely due
to payments into time deposits of ¥33,700 million, against
increases in cash largely due to proceeds from redemptions
of securities of ¥26,070 million and proceeds from withdrawal
of time deposits of ¥28,700 million.

Net cash used in ﬁnancing activities was ¥21,500 million,
compared with ¥8,994 million used in the previous ﬁscal year.
This reﬂects such factors as a decrease in long-term loans
payable of ¥13,025 million, payments for redemption of bonds
of ¥5,000 million, and cash dividends paid of ¥2,597 million.

REAL ESTATE MANAGEMENT MARKET RISK
The Group’s real estate management segment’s performance
may be adversely affected if management fees decline owing
to reduced numbers of condominiums and buildings under
management as a result of intensiﬁed competition.

RISK FACTORS

OTHER MARKET RISKS (LIQUIDITY, INTEREST RATE, SHARE PRICE
AND CURRENCY EXCHANGE FLUCTUATIONS)
Funding to support the Real estate development and sales
segment is mainly procured from ﬁnancial institutions in the
form of debt. In the event that the Group’s credit capacity
decreases due to deteriorating performance, the procurement
of ﬁnancing becomes difﬁcult due to a worsening ﬁnancial
situation or existing interest rates rise above expectations, the
Group’s performance may be affected.
As part of its operating and investment activities, the Group
maintains equity in publicly listed and private companies. In the
event of a signiﬁcant devaluation in the Group’s holdings due to
an across-the-board and substantial decline in share prices, the
Group’s performance may be affected.
In addition, the Group, which has overseas subsidiaries in
Taiwan, Hong Kong and Australia, may be adversely affected
by the appreciation in the value of the yen over Taiwan dollars,
Australian dollars and Hong Kong dollars due to currency
exchange rates.

Items within this report that are not statements of historical
fact constitute forward-looking statements that are based on
management’s evaluation of circumstances as of the ﬁscal
year-end. Accordingly, statements may differ materially from
actual results due to changes in the economic environment
and operating conditions.
As of March 31, 2015, the Group has identiﬁed certain
risks that it believes may materially impact its performance
and ﬁnancial position. In addition, readers are advised that
unforeseen risks that can signiﬁcantly affect the Group’s
performance and ﬁnancial position may arise in the future
due to changes in the economic environment and operating
conditions.
The Group is committed to identifying risks on an individual
basis and appropriately evaluating each one in an effort to
establish an optimal risk management system.
The major risks identiﬁed as of March 31, 2016 are as follows.

CREDIT RISK
In the course of operations of Real estate development and
sales and Real estate management, the Group enters into
construction agreements with a number of construction
and contracting companies. In the event that a construction
company suffers a material loss or credibility, which contributes
to a delay in project completion, the Group’s performance may
be affected.

Management’s Discussion & Analysis

REAL ESTATE MARKET RISK
The performance of the real estate development and
sales segment and the real estate brokerage segment
may experience ﬂuctuations due to the impact of market
conditions. Condominium sales results in particular are
susceptible to movements in land prices and construction
costs, as well as to the supply of condominiums by and the
product prices of competitors. In addition, a signiﬁcant drop
in housing demand could result from an economic downturn,
deterioration in corporate earnings or personal consumption,
an increase in interest rates, or changes in real estate-related
taxes brought about by ﬂuctuating economic conditions. As
a result, a decline in the value of assets held may affect the
Group’s performance and ﬁnancial position.
Regarding real estate inventories held, in the event that
there is a major decrease in prices due to such factors as
a worsening of market conditions, losses may be incurred
accompanying the loss on devaluation of inventories held
by the Group. Consequently, the performance and ﬁnancial
position of the Group may be affected.
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CONDOMINIUM DEVELOPMENT AND SALES RISKS
The Group is engaged in the evaluation and survey of
development sites, acquisition, condominium design,
construction and sales. As such, an individual development
project extends over a signiﬁcant period before income is
collected and secured.
Furthermore, the Group’s condominium development
and sales business is subject to a variety of public authority
approvals and procedures, including explanations of planned
developments to local and neighboring residents. Accordingly,
the Group is subject to a variety of business risks that could
adversely affect performance. These risks are outlined as
follows.
Opposition by Local and Neighboring Residents
In addition to acquiring all necessary approvals stipulated
under the Building Standards Act, the City Planning Act
and other related laws for each particular condominium
development, as well as adhering to local government
guidelines, the Group strives to obtain the opinions of
neighboring residents and the local community.
At the same time, the Group endeavors to ensure
harmony with the local environment and protect natural
surroundings. Notwithstanding the acquisition of
necessary approval, in the event the Group is forced to
delay the development process or amend its initial sales
plans due to opposition and negotiations with local and
neighboring residents, the Group’s performance may be
affected.
Site Risk, Soil Contamination
Prior to acquiring land for condominium development,
the Group makes every possible effort to ascertain the
presence of such things as buried objects and soil pollution
caused by chemical substances that are not suitable for a
living environment. In addition, the Group imposes a liability
on the seller at the time of executing a purchase and sale
agreement to cover soil contamination and damage in an
effort to minimize risk.
In the event, however, any ensuing damage materially
exceeds expectations or the seller is unable to meet the
amount of damages incurred, thereby resulting in changes
in original development plans, delay in completion or
increase in costs, the Group’s business performance may
be affected.
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Incidence of Defects
With regard to condominium construction work, the
Group places orders with construction companies that
possess sufﬁcient technical expertise, based on its
own in-house standards, and has systems in place to
comply with mandatory building regulations, including
earthquake resistance. In addition to enforcing strict quality
management controls that meet proprietary quality and
design standards and those of technical reviews upon
each construction project, multiple checks are carried out
at each stage of design and construction.
In the event, however, an unforeseen circumstance
involving an incidence of a design or construction defect
arises, the Group could be held liable and incur repair work
and compensation costs. The terms and extent of any
such loss may affect Group performance.
OPERATIONAL RISK
The Group is aware that it faces a wide range of operational
risks in the performance of its business, such as improper
sales practices, employee fraud, administrative errors and
the occurrence of labor disputes. The Group endeavors to
control such operational risks and maintain a reasonable
level of management control. However, the Group’s business
performance may be affected should a decline in sales result
from the Group falling into disrepute or incurring payments
for damages stemming from a case involving any of the
abovementioned risks.
LEGAL RISK
Because the businesses conducted by the Group are subject
to real estate-related laws, the Group’s performance may be
affected by new obligations and higher expenses arising from
possible amendments made to real estate-related laws, such
as the Building Lots and Building Transaction Business Act,
the Building Standards Act, the City Planning Act, the Act on
Advancement of Proper Condominium Management and the
Construction Business Act, or if new real estate-related laws
are established.
PERSONAL INFORMATION RISK
The Group maintains a signiﬁcant volume of personal
information on parties such as real estate purchasers,
individuals contemplating the purchase of real estate and
compartmentalized owners in the real estate management
business. The Group maintains internal rules and systems to
handle personal information in accordance with the Personal
Information Protection Act. However, in the event of an
unforeseen circumstance whereby personal information is lost
or leaked, resulting in loss of credibility, a decline in sales or a
claim for damages, the Group’s performance may be affected.

SYSTEM RISK
The Group implements measures including data backup to
ensure the safety and reliability of its computer systems. In
the event of unforeseen circumstances in which the Group’s
systems are suspended, resulting in damages that signiﬁcantly
impact the Group’s business process and activities,
performance may be affected.
DISASTER RISK
The Group’s performance may be affected by earthquakes
or other natural disasters, including wind and ﬂood damage,
accidents, and ﬁres, or by terrorist attacks.
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
The Group has accrued tax loss carryforwards, which are
recorded under deferred tax assets in the Group’s consolidated
ﬁnancial statements. Deferred tax assets are recorded
after consideration of the likelihood of realization, based on
forecasts of future taxable income. However, deferred tax
assets may have an impact on the Group’s net income for the
period in the event of an adjustment becoming necessary due
to subsequent business performance.
Once the tax loss carryforwards are fully used or have
expired within the allowable number of years under tax
regulations, the tax beneﬁt is regarded as having been lost,
and the Group will be required to pay corporation tax at the
standard rate, which will affect on Group’s net income and
cash ﬂows.
GOODWILL
The Group accounts for goodwill occurring in conjunction
with business acquisitions. The Group believes that its future
earnings power, gained from results demonstrated in the
value of each business and the synergistic effects of business
integration, is appropriately reﬂected in the goodwill recorded
in the balance sheet. However, if anticipated performance
does not occur due to such factors as changes in business
conditions and competition, impairment losses could be
incurred that may affect the Group’s performance.

RELATIONSHIP WITH THE ORIX GROUP
On February 27, 2014, the Company became a consolidated
subsidiary of ORIX Corporation. The relationship between the
Group and ORIX Corporation and its subsidiaries and afﬁliates
(hereinafter referred to as “ORIX Group”) as of March 31, 2015,
is stated below.
Capital Relationship
ORIX Corporation holds 547,490 thousand of the
Company’s shares (537,490 thousand in common stock
and 10,000 thousand in preferred stock), accounting for
64.14% of the Company’s outstanding shares (62.97%
in common stock and 1.17% in preferred stock). ORIX
Corporation holds 64.3% of the voting rights attributable
to the Company’s shares (including 0.02% held indirectly),
and the Company is an afﬁliate of ORIX Corporation
pursuant to the equity method of accounting.
Personal Relationship
One of the Group’s ofﬁcers also serves as an ofﬁcer in
the ORIX Group, and two of the Group’s ofﬁcers have
been seconded from the ORIX Group.
Business Relationship
In addition to joint projects and contract sales related to
condominium sales, the Group does business with the
ORIX Group that involves sales and other activities related
to building management and construction. The Group
evaluates each transaction in terms of its proﬁtability,
signiﬁcance, and transparency.
Although the Group operates independently, its
credibility and operations could be affected by changes in
the relationship with the ORIX Group.
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PREFERRED STOCK
Class 1 preferred stock issued by the Company (hereinafter
referred to as “preferred stock”) includes acquisition rights
which provide that a holder of preferred stock can request that
the Company acquires their preferred stock in exchange for
common stock.
The period for requesting acquisition of such preferred stock
is 18 years from October 1, 2007. Should common stocks be
issued in accordance with a request for acquisition of preferred
stock, the number of common stocks will increase and
consequently the price of common stocks may be affected.
However, as of June 22, 2016, the Company has received no
requests for acquisition of any such preferred stock.

DAIKYO INCORPORATED REPORT 2016

43

10-Year Financial Summary
Daikyo Incorporated and its consolidated subsidiaries
For the years ended March 31, 2007–2016

FOR THE YEAR:
Net sales
Gross proﬁt (loss)
Operating income (loss)
Proﬁt (loss) attributable to owners of parent
AT YEAR-END:
Total assets
Interest-bearing debt
Net assets
PER SHARE DATA (yen and U.S. dollars):
Net income (loss)
Net assets
RATIOS:
ROE (%)
ROA (%)
Shareholders’ equity ratio (%)
Debt to equity ratio (times)
OTHER:
Number of employees

2007

2008

2009

2010

¥376,666
71,853
34,994
24,683

¥394,102
68,739
31,117
16,255

¥351,623
(6,612)
(44,075)
(56,414)

¥318,356
36,527
9,098
6,307

¥429,362
188,503
98,853

¥464,733
228,648
113,201

¥367,521
182,449
62,820

¥330,456
160,760
87,367

¥ 74.33
204.43

¥ 46.84
268.87

¥(164.87)
79.81

¥ 16.52
116.67

27.7
8.4
20.3
2.16

16.3
7.0
24.2
2.03

(64.4)
(10.6)
17.1
2.91

8.4
2.6
26.4
1.84

6,524

6,809

6,894

7,257

Notes: 1. All dollar ﬁgures herein refer to U.S. currency. Dollar amounts are translated from yen, for convenience only, at ¥112.68=US$1.00,
the approximate exchange rate prevailing on March 31, 2016.
2. Fiscal 2011 and ﬁscal 2013 ﬁgures are presented retroactively.
The method for calculating employee numbers changed from ﬁscal 2011. Contract and temporary employees are excluded from
the number of employees.
Shareholders’ equity ratio = (Net assets – Share subscription rights – Non-controlling interests) / Total assets
Debt to equity ratio = Interest-bearing debt / (Net assets – Share subscription rights – Non-controlling interests)

Net sales

Operating income

(Billions of yen)

(Billions of yen)

Profit attributable to
owners of parent
(Billions of yen)

333.8
298.6

302.6

317.1

334.8

22.0

22.1

21.7
16.9

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2012

2013

2014

18.1

20.7

18.3
15.5

2015

2016

2012

2013

Total assets

Interest-bearing debt

Net assets

(Billions of yen)

(Billions of yen)

(Billions of yen)

91.0

324.6
290.2

275.4

297.8

2014

12.1

12.6

2015

2016

156.4

166.0

144.9

274.5
69.1

131.3
117.6

63.6
57.3
38.4

2012
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2013

2014

2015
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2016

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

Millions of yen

Thousands of
U.S. dollars (Note 1)

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2016

¥295,374
39,415
13,597
9,752

¥298,696
46,711
22,069
21,787

¥302,610
48,635
22,101
15,535

¥333,813
49,388
16,910
20,790

¥317,154
48,209
18,124
12,154

¥334,853
48,042
18,318
12,628

$2,971,721
426,365
162,574
112,070

¥319,085
140,304
96,723

¥290,261
91,032
117,629

¥275,442
69,164
131,314

¥297,812
63,646
144,986

¥324,610
57,324
156,488

¥274,594
38,484
166,090

$2,436,936
341,541
1,474,004

¥ 20.18
136.78

¥ 47.43
184.10

¥ 33.25
214.99

¥ 43.32
167.69

¥ 14.37
181.42

¥ 14.94
192.86

$0.13
1.71

10.6
4.2
30.3
1.45

20.3
7.2
40.5
0.77

12.5
7.8
47.7
0.53

15.3
5.9
48.7
0.44

8.0
5.8
48.2
0.37

7.8
6.1
60.5
0.23

7,226

3,712

3,940

5,088

5,196

5,256

Net income per share

Net assets per share

ROE

(Yen)

(Yen)

(%)

47.43
43.32

214.99
184.10
167.69

33.25

181.42

192.86

20.3

15.3
12.5
14.37

14.94
8.0

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2012

2013

2014

2015

Shareholders’ equity ratio

Debt to equity ratio

(%)

(%)

(Times)

2016
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ROA

7.8

7.8
60.5

7.2

0.77

5.9

0.53

6.1
5.8

47.7

48.7

48.2

0.44
0.37
0.23

40.5

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

DAIKYO INCORPORATED REPORT 2016

45

Consolidated Balance Sheets
As of March 31, 2015 and 2016

Thousands of
U.S. dollars (Note 4)

Millions of yen

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and deposits (Notes 6 and 17)
Notes and accounts receivable–trade (Note 6)
Allowance for doubtful accounts (Note 6)
Marketable securities (Notes 6 and 8)
Inventories (Notes 5 and 10)
Advance payments
Deferred tax assets (Note 12)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT:
Land (Note 10)
Buildings and structures
Furniture and other equipment
Accumulated depreciation
Net property and equipment

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS:
Investment securities (Notes 6 and 8)
Other investments
Allowance for doubtful accounts (Note 11)
Net deﬁned beneﬁt asset
Deferred tax assets (Note 12)
Goodwill
Other assets (Note 10)
Total investments and other assets
Total assets

2015

2016

¥ 96,540
19,157
(52)
26,069
116,643
777
3,824
12,358
275,319

¥ 87,343
17,195
(26)
4
108,331
410
3,738
9,559
226,557

$ 775,150
152,605
(238)
44
961,410
3,643
33,180
84,836
2,010,631

13,453
6,973
1,866
22,293
(4,466)
17,826

13,687
7,584
1,806
23,078
(4,598)
18,480

121,470
67,307
16,035
204,814
(40,807)
164,006

1,496
1,792
(275)
145
644
11,422
16,238
31,463

1,393
2,285
(168)
—
724
10,357
14,963
29,555

12,367
20,282
(1,499)
—
6,426
91,922
132,799
262,298

¥324,610

¥274,594

$2,436,936

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
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2016

Thousands of
U.S. dollars (Note 4)

Millions of yen

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Short-term borrowings (Notes 6 and 10)
Current portion of long-term debt (Notes 6 and 10)
Notes and accounts payable–trade (Note 6)
Advances received
Accrued expenses
Income taxes payable (Note 12)
Deffered tax liabilities (Note 12)
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES:
Long-term debt (Notes 6 and 10)
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 12)
Net deﬁned beneﬁt liability (Note 11)
Other liabilities (Note 10)
Total long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Note 13)
NET ASSETS: (Note 14)
Shareholders’ equity:
Capital stock
Common stock
Authorized: 1,152,400,000 shares
at March 31, 2015 and 2016
Issued:
843,542,737 shares at March 31, 2015 and 2016
Preferred stock (Note 15)
Authorized: 10,000,000 shares at March 31, 2015 and 2016
Issued:
10,000,000 shares at March 31, 2015 and 2016
Capital surplus
Retained earnings
Treasury stock

Total net assets
Total liabilities and net assets

¥

891
26,546
36,180
11,377
4,873
1,305
53
37,300
118,528

2016

¥

100
10,018
17,767
9,034
4,753
2,703
—
16,045
60,423

2016

$

887
88,911
157,678
80,178
42,188
23,995
—
142,395
536,235

29,887
2,422
8,894
8,389
49,593
168,121

28,366
2,169
9,912
7,632
48,080
108,503

251,742
19,253
87,967
67,733
426,696
962,932

41,171
38,098
78,063
(1,331)
156,001

41,171
38,098
88,088
(1,335)
166,022

365,384
338,109
781,755
(11,854)
1,473,395

478
17
(8)
487
156,488

440
22
(394)
68
166,090

3,909
203
(3,503)
609
1,474,004

¥324,610

¥274,594

$2,436,936

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
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Accumulated other comprehensive income:
Net unrealized gains on other securities (Note 8)
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Remeasurements of deﬁned beneﬁt plans (Note 11)
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47

Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income
For the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2016

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
Millions of yen

Thousands of
U.S. dollars (Note 4)
2016

2015

2016

¥317,154
268,945
48,209

¥334,853
286,810
48,042

$2,971,721
2,545,355
426,365

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
Operating income

30,084
18,124

29,723
18,318

263,791
162,574

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES):
Interest and dividend income
Interest expense
Impairment loss on ﬁxed assets
Reversal of provision incurred from business combination
Other, net
Income before income taxes

91
(665)
(99)
64
(896)
16,619

122
(475)
—
—
(962)
17,003

1,085
(4,222)
—
—
(8,538)
150,899

2,835
1,627
12,155
1
¥ 12,154

4,507
(132)
12,628
—
¥ 12,628

40,005
(1,177)
112,070
—
$ 112,070

NET SALES
COST OF SALES
Gross proﬁt

INCOME TAXES (Note 12):
Current
Deferred
Proﬁt
Proﬁt attributable to non-controlling interests
Proﬁt attributable to owners of parent

U.S. dollars (Note 4)

Yen

PER SHARE:
Net income attributable to owners of parent
Fully diluted net income
Cash dividends—common stock
Cash dividends—Preferred stock Class 1

¥14.37
14.27
3.00
8.28

¥14.94
14.83
3.00
8.136

$0.13
0.13
0.02
0.07

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income
48

Millions of yen
2015

Proﬁt
Other comprehensive income:
Net unrealized gains on other securities
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Remeasurements of deﬁned beneﬁt plans
Total other comprehensive income
Comprehensive income (Note 16)
Comprehensive income attributable to owners of parent
Comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
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2016

Thousands of
U.S. dollars (Note 4)
2016

¥12,155

¥12,628

$112,070

145
(5)
1,174
1,313
¥13,469
13,468
1

(37)
5
(386)
(418)
¥12,209
12,209
—

(332)
46
(3,427)
(3,713)
$108,357
108,357
—

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets
For the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2016

Millions of yen
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Balance at April 1, 2014
Cumulative effects of changes
in accounting policies
Restated balance
Changes during the year:
Cash dividends
Proﬁt attributable to owners of parent
Acquisition of treasury stock
Retirement of treasury stock
Transfer from retained earnings to
capital surplus
Other changes during the year, net
Total change during the year, net
Balance at April 1, 2015
Cumulative effects of changes
in accounting policies
Restated balance
Changes during the year:
Cash dividends
Proﬁt attributable to owners of parent
Acquisition of treasury stock
Retirement of treasury stock
Transfer from retained earnings to
capital surplus
Other changes during the year, net
Total change during the year, net
Balance at March 31, 2016

Capital Stock
¥41,171

Capital Surplus
¥38,098

Retained
Earnings
¥67,842

Treasury Stock
¥(1,326)

670
41,171

38,098

Total
Shareholders’
Equity
¥145,785
670

68,513

(1,326)

146,456

(4)
0

(2,604)
12,154
(4)
0

(2,604)
12,154
(0)
0

(0)

—

—
¥41,171

—
¥38,098

9,549
¥78,063

(4)
¥(1,331)

9,545
¥156,001

41,171

38,098

78,063

(1,331)

—
156,001

(4)
0

(2,603)
12,628
(4)
0

(2,603)
12,628
(0)

—
¥41,171

0

(0)

—
¥38,098

10,025
¥88,088

—
(4)
¥(1,335)

10,020
¥166,022

Millions of yen
ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Foreign
Currency
Translation
Adjustments
¥23

Remeasurements of
Deﬁned Beneﬁt
Plans
¥(1,182)

Total Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Non-Controlling
Income
Interests
¥ (826)
¥ 27

TOTAL NET
ASSETS
¥144,986
670

332

23

(1,182)

(826)

27

145,657
(2,604)
12,154
(4)
0
—

145
145
¥478

(5)
(5)
¥17

1,174
1,174
¥
(8)

1,313
1,313
¥ 487

(27)
(27)
¥ —

1,286
10,831
¥156,488

478

17

(8)

487

—

156,488

—

(2,603)
12,628
(4)
0
—
(37)
(37)
¥440

5
5
¥22

(386)
(386)
¥ (394)

(418)
(418)
¥ 68

—
—
¥ —

(418)
9,602
¥166,090
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets

Balance at April 1, 2014
Cumulative effects of changes
in accounting policies
Restated balance
Changes during the year:
Cash dividends
Proﬁt attributable to owners of parent
Acquisition of treasury stock
Retirement of treasury stock
Transfer from retained earnings to
capital surplus
Other changes during the year, net
Total change during the year, net
Balance at April 1, 2015
Cumulative effects of changes
in accounting policies
Restated balance
Changes during the year:
Cash dividends
Proﬁt attributable to owners of parent
Acquisition of treasury stock
Retirement of treasury stock
Transfer from retained earnings to
capital surplus
Other changes during the year, net
Total change during the year, net
Balance at March 31, 2016

Net Unrealized
Gains on Other
Securities
¥332
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets (continued)
For the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2016

Thousands of U.S. dollars (Note 4)
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Balance at April 1, 2015
Cumulative effects of changes
in accounting policies
Restated balance
Changes during the year:
Cash dividends
Proﬁt attributable to owners of parent
Acquisition of treasury stock
Retirement of treasury stock
Transfer from retained earnings to
capital surplus
Other changes during the year, net
Total change during the year, net
Balance at March 31, 2016

Capital Stock
$365,384

365,384

Capital Surplus
$338,109

338,109

Retained
Earnings
$692,786

692,786

Treasury Stock
$(11,816)

(11,816)

1,384,464

(39)
1

(23,101)
112,070
(39)
0

(23,101)
112,070
(0)

—
$365,384

0

(0)

—
$338,109

88,969
$781,755

Total
Shareholders’
Equity
$1,384,464

—
(38)
$(11,854)

88,930
$1,473,395

Thousands of U.S. dollars (Note 4)
ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Balance at April 1, 2015
Cumulative effects of changes
in accounting policies
Restated balance
Changes during the year:
Cash dividends
Proﬁt attributable to owners of parent
Acquisition of treasury stock
Retirement of treasury stock
Transfer from retained earnings to
capital surplus
Other changes during the year, net
Total change during the year, net
Balance at March 31, 2016

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets
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Net Unrealized
Gains on Other
Securities
$4,242

4,242

Foreign
Currency
Translation
Adjustments
$156

156

Remeasurements of
Deﬁned Beneﬁt
Plans
$ (76)

(76)

Total Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Non-Controlling
Income
Interests
$ 4,322
$—

4,322

—

TOTAL NET
ASSETS
$1,388,787

1,388,787
(23,101)
112,070
(39)
0
—

(332)
(332)
$3,909

46
46
$203

(3,427)
(3,427)
$(3,503)

(3,713)
(3,713)
$ 609

—
—
$—

(3,713)
85,216
$1,474,004

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2016

Thousands of
U.S. dollars (Note 4)
2016

Millions of yen
2015
2016

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Income before income taxes
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment loss on ﬁxed assets
Changes in allowance for doubtful accounts
Interest and dividend income
Interest expense
Loss on sales and retirement of property and equipment
Changes in notes and accounts receivable–trade
Changes in advances received
Changes in real estate inventories and advance payments
Changes in notes and accounts payable–trade
Changes in deposits payable
Other
Sub-total
Interest and dividends received
Interest paid
Income taxes paid
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Payments for purchase of property and equipment and intangible assets
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment and intangible assets
Payments for purchase of marketable securities
Proceeds from redemptions of securities
Payments for purchase of investment securities
Proceeds from sales of investment securities
Proceeds from sales of stocks of subsidiaries resulting in change in scope of
consolidation
Payments into time deposits
Proceeds from withdrawal of time deposits
Other
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Changes in short-term borrowings
Proceeds from long-term borrowings
Repayment of long-term borrowings
Payments for redemption of bonds
Repayment of rehabilitation claims
Cash dividends paid
Other
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR (Note 17)

¥ 17,003

$ 150,899

2,874
99
38
(91)
665
47
(884)
(278)
(12,404)
6,118
21,076
(4,281)

2,949
—
(132)
(122)
475
115
1,959
(2,342)
8,840
(18,411)
(21,282)
1,296

26,174
—
(1,177)
(1,085)
4,222
1,023
17,393
(20,785)
78,455
(163,400)
(188,878)
11,507

29,598
80
(668)
(8,931)

(9,651)
124
(501)
(1,302)

(85,651)
1,106
(4,448)
(11,560)

20,079

(11,330)

(100,554)

(1,499)
170
(26,000)
—
(6)
—

(1,498)
1
—
26,070
(4)
115

(13,297)
12
—
231,363
(35)
1,026

200

—

—

(2,000)
18,183
(82)

(33,700)
28,700
(1,001)

(299,077)
254,703
(8,886)

(11,034)

18,683

165,809

891
20,954
(28,141)
—
(55)
(2,600)
(41)

(791)
12,980
(26,005)
(5,000)
(55)
(2,597)
(31)

(7,019)
115,193
(230,786)
(44,373)
(490)
(23,055)
(277)

(8,994)

(21,500)

(190,810)

61

(49)

(437)

¥112
96,413

¥(14,196)
96,526

$(125,992)
856,644

¥ 96,526

¥ 82,329

$ 730,651

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Net cash used in ﬁnancing activities

¥ 16,619
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Daikyo Incorporated and its consolidated subsidiaries
For the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2016

01 BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The accompanying consolidated ﬁnancial statements of DAIKYO INCORPORATED (the “Company”) and its consolidated
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) have been prepared in accordance with the provisions set forth in the Japanese Financial
Instruments and Exchange Act and its related accounting regulations, and in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in Japan (“Japanese GAAP”), which are different in certain respects as to application and disclosure requirements of
International Financial Reporting Standards.
The accounting policies of the overseas subsidiaries are basically integrated with those of the Company unless they are
prepared differently in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards or U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles, in which case a limited number of items have been adjusted to Japanese GAAP. The accompanying consolidated
ﬁnancial statements have been restructured and translated into English (with certain expanded disclosures) from the consolidated
ﬁnancial statements of the Company prepared in accordance with Japanese GAAP and ﬁled with the appropriate Local Finance
Bureau of the Ministry of Finance as required by the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act. Certain supplementary information
included in the statutory Japanese language consolidated ﬁnancial statements, but not required for fair presentation, is not
presented in the accompanying consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
Certain prior year amounts in the consolidated ﬁnancial statements and notes thereto have been reclassiﬁed to conform to the
current year presentation.

02 ACCOUNTING CHANGES
APPLICATION OF ACCOUNTING STANDARDS REGARDING BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
Effective from the ﬁscal year ended March 31, 2016, the Company adopted “Accounting Standard for Business Combinations”
(ASBJ Statement No. 21, September 13, 2013; hereinafter “Business Combinations Accounting Standard”), “Accounting
Standard for Consolidated Financial Statements” (ASBJ Statement No. 22, September 13, 2013; hereinafter “Consolidation
Accounting Standard”), “Accounting Standard for Business Divestitures” (ASBJ Statement No. 7, September 13, 2013; hereinafter
“Business Divestitures Accounting Standard”) and other standards.
Accordingly, the accounting policy has been changed such that the differences associated with changes in equity in subsidiaries remaining under the control of the Company are recorded as capital surplus, and acquisition-related costs are recorded as
expenses for the ﬁscal year of incurrence. For business combinations implemented after the start of the ﬁscal year ended March
31, 2016, the accounting method has been changed so as to reﬂect the reallocation of acquisition costs upon the ﬁnalization of
provisional accounting treatment in the consolidated ﬁnancial statements for the year in which the business combination has
taken place. Additionally, the presentation of net income has been changed and the term “non-controlling interests” is used
instead of “minority interests.”
The Company has applied the standards mentioned above from the beginning of the ﬁscal year ended March 31, 2016, following the transitional treatment prescribed in article 58-2 (4) of the Business Combinations Accounting Standard, article 44-5 (4) of
the Consolidation Accounting Standard and article 57-4 (4) of the Business Divestitures Accounting Standard.
In the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the consolidated ﬁscal year under review, cash ﬂows from acquisition or
disposal of shares of subsidiaries that do not result in a change in the scope of consolidation are recorded under “cash ﬂows
from ﬁnancing activities.” Cash ﬂows from acquisition-related costs arising from acquisition of shares of subsidiaries that result
in a change in the scope of consolidation and cash ﬂows from costs relating to acquisition or disposal of shares of subsidiaries
that do not result in a change in the scope of consolidation are recorded under “cash ﬂows from operating activities.”
The adoption of these accounting standards does not have any impact on the consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
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03 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(1) CONSOLIDATION
The Company has 13 subsidiaries at March 31, 2016 (15 subsidiaries at March 31, 2015). The consolidated ﬁnancial statements
include the accounts of the Company and 11 signiﬁcant subsidiaries at March 31, 2016 (13 in 2015).
The major subsidiaries consolidated with the Company at the year ended March 31, 2016 are as follows:
Equity ownership percentage

DAIKYO ASTAGE INCORPORATED

100%

DAIKYO ANABUKI REAL ESTATE INCORPORATED

100

ORIX Facilities Corporation

100

Anabuki Construction Inc.

100

All signiﬁcant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
(2) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Securities
Held-to-maturity debt securities that the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries have and intend to hold until maturity
are stated at amortized cost. Investments in non-consolidated subsidiaries not accounted for under the equity method
are stated at cost using the moving-average method. Other securities with quoted market prices are stated at their
quoted market prices at the balance sheet date, and other securities with no quoted market prices available are stated
at cost using the moving-average method. Net unrealized gains or losses on other securities are reported as a separate
component of net assets, net of applicable income taxes.
In cases where the fair value of held-to-maturity debt securities or other securities has declined signiﬁcantly and such
impairment of the value is considered other than temporary, the difference between the carrying amount and its fair value
is recognized as an impairment loss, and is reported in the consolidated statement of income for the period.
Debt securities maturing within one year are presented as “current” and all the other securities are presented as “noncurrent” on the consolidated balance sheet.
(b) Derivatives
The Company enters into interest rate swaps only for hedging risks from ﬂuctuations in interest rates. Such interest rate
swaps meet the requirement of exceptional treatment under Japanese GAAP and are not measured at fair value and the
differences between payment amounts and receipt amounts are included in the interest expenses.
The company also enters into foreign exchange forwards and non-deliverable foreign exchange forwards only for
hedging risks from ﬂuctuations in foreign exchange rates. Such foreign exchange forwards and non-deliverable foreign
exchange forwards are not designated as hedging instruments and unrealized gains and losses arising from these
derivatives instruments are recognized in earnings.
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(3) INVENTORIES AND BASIS OF REVENUE RECOGNITION
Real estate for sale (i.e., real estate held for sale), real estate for sale in progress (i.e.,real estate held for sale before completion),
and real estate for development projects (i.e., real estate from the time the Group acquires the legal title until the time the
construction approval is granted) are stated at cost, using the speciﬁc identiﬁcation method.
The write-down of inventories due to decreased proﬁtability is reﬂected in the valuation of the respective asset components
and the accompanying loss is recognized as cost of sales, in principle. The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries recorded
a write-down on the value of inventory of ¥272 million and ¥616 million ($5,472 thousands) for the years ended March 31, 2015
and 2016, respectively.
Revenue from sales of condominiums and land is recognized when units are delivered and accepted by the customers.
Revenue from leasing of ofﬁce space and shops is recognized as rent accrued over the lease term.
Revenue and its related costs from construction work are recognized by the percentage-of-completion method, with the
exception of short-term contracts. If the outcome of the construction activity is not deemed certain during the course of such
activity, the completed contract method is applied.
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(4) PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment, including signiﬁcant renewals and improvements, are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation.
Maintenance and repairs, including minor renewals and betterments, are charged to income as incurred. Depreciation is
computed on the declining-balance method for property and equipment except for buildings, which are computed mostly on the
straight-line method, based on the estimated useful lives of the assets.
Fixed assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of
an asset may not be recoverable. If an asset is considered to be impaired, the impairment loss is recognized for the period.
When retired or disposed of, the difference between the net book value and sales proceeds is charged or credited to income.
Estimated useful lives for buildings and structures range from 3 to 60 years.
(5) GOODWILL
Goodwill is amortized using the straight-line method over periods of 5 to 20 years.
Negative goodwill resulted from business combinations made prior to April 1, 2010 is amortized using the straight-line method
for 20 years.
(6) ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS
A general allowance for doubtful accounts is provided at an amount calculated based on historical loss experience, while speciﬁc
allowances for doubtful accounts are provided for the estimated amounts considered to be uncollectible after reviewing and
assessing collectability of individual accounts.
(7) RETIREMENT BENEFITS
The Company and its consolidated domestic subsidiaries have severance indemnity plans, non-contributory deﬁned beneﬁt
funded pension plans and deﬁned contribution pension plans, covering substantially all of their employees who meet eligibility
requirements under the retirement regulations. Under the plans, employees whose service with the Company is terminated
are, under most circumstances, entitled to lump-sum severance indemnities and/or pension annuity payments, determined by
reference to current basic rate of pay, length of service and conditions under which the termination occurs.
The Company and certain domestic subsidiaries also have contributory deﬁned contribution pension plans, covering
substantially all of their employees. The pension beneﬁts are determined based on years of service and the compensation
amount as stipulated in the regulations.
In determining retirement beneﬁt obligations, the beneﬁt formula basis is used as a method of attributing expected beneﬁt
to periods. Net deﬁned beneﬁt liability is recognized based on the estimated present value of projected beneﬁt obligations in
excess of the fair value of the plan assets at the end of each ﬁscal year. Prior service costs are expensed as incurred. Transition
obligation is amortized under the straight-line method for 15 years. Net actuarial gains or losses are amortized under the straightline method over 5 to 10 years, based on the employees’ average remaining service period, commencing from the following ﬁscal
year after they arise.
Certain domestic subsidiaries apply the simpliﬁed method to calculate net deﬁned beneﬁt liability and retirement beneﬁt costs
for CDBPs and lump-sum payments plans.
(8) DIRECTORS’ RETIREMENT BENEFITS
Provision for the retirement beneﬁts for directors is based on the estimated future payments to directors in accordance with the
Company’s internal rules and regulations. This provision is included in other liabilities.
(9) INCOME TAXES
Provision for income taxes is computed based on income before income taxes in the consolidated statements of income. The
asset and liability approach is used to recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of
temporary differences between the carrying amounts and tax basis of the assets and liabilities and the tax loss carryforwards.
The Company and its wholly-owned domestic subsidiaries have adopted the consolidated taxation system.
(10) LEASE CONTRACTS
(Lease assets related to ﬁnance leases that do not transfer ownership)
Depreciation of assets used under ﬁnance leases that do not transfer ownership is calculated based on the assumption that the
useful life equals the lease term and the residual value equals zero.
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(11) NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF PARENT AND FULLY DILUTED NET INCOME PER SHARE
Net income attributable to owners of parent per share is computed based on the weighted average number of shares of common
stock issued and outstanding during each ﬁscal period.
Diluted net income per share is computed based on the proﬁt attributable to owners of parent and the weighted average
number of shares of common stock outstanding during the year after giving effect to the dilutive potential of shares of common
stock to be issued upon the exercise of preferred stock and stock subscription rights.
(12) NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS NOT YET ADOPTED
The new accounting standards and other pronouncements that have been issued which the Company and its subsidiaries have
not yet adopted as of March 31, 2016 are as follows:
(Implementation Guidance on Recoverability of Deferred Tax Assets)
• Revised Implementation Guidance on Recoverability of Deferred Tax Assets (Guidance No. 26 issued by ASBJ on
March 28, 2016).
The Company and its consolidated domestic subsidiaries will adopt the implementation guidance from the beginning of the
ﬁscal year ending March 31, 2017. The adoption of the implementation guidance does not have any impact on the consolidated
ﬁnancial statements.

04 U.S. DOLLAR PRESENTATION
The translation of yen amounts into U.S. dollar amounts is included using the prevailing exchange rate at March 31, 2016, which
is ¥112.68 to U.S.$1.00. The inclusion of such U.S. dollar amounts in the accompanying consolidated ﬁnancial statements is
solely for the convenience of the reader and is not intended to imply that Japanese yen amounts have been or could be readily
converted, realized or settled into U.S. dollars at the prevailing or any other exchange rate.

05 INVENTORIES
Inventories at March 31, 2015 and 2016 consisted of:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen
2015

Real estate for sale

2016

2016

¥ 39,609

¥ 38,909

$345,313

Real estate for sale in progress

60,628

48,227

428,002

Real estate for development projects

13,440

17,834

158,277

Other

2,965

3,359

29,815

Total

¥116,643

¥108,331

$961,410

Information on ﬁnancial instruments for the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2016 is as follows:
(1) CONDITION OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Policies concerning ﬁnancial instruments
The Group procures funds required primarily for its real estate development and sales business through borrowings
from ﬁnancial institutions and the issuance of bonds. Temporary excess funds are managed using highly stable ﬁnancial
instruments. The Group uses derivative instruments in order to hedge against interest rate ﬂuctuations and foreign exchange
rate ﬂuctuations and does not enter into derivative transactions for trading or speculative purposes, in accordance with its
internal policy.
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(b) Content and risk of ﬁnancial instruments, and risk management system
Notes and accounts receivable–trade are subject to the credit risk of customers. The Group is taking steps to mitigate such
risk by managing the payment deadlines and outstanding balance of each party, requesting periodic reports on delinquent
receivables, and quickly ascertaining conditions regarding collection.
Marketable and investment securities are primarily bonds that the Group intends to hold until maturity and the shares of
companies with which the Group holds business relationships, and these are subject to the risk of ﬂuctuations in market
prices. With regard to such risk, their fair values and ﬁnancial conditions of the issuers are periodically monitored. The holding
of securities other than bonds held until maturity is continually reviewed.
Notes and accounts payable–trade are mostly due within one year.
Borrowings and bonds are primarily used for procuring funds for the real estate development and sales business. The Group
uses derivative instruments (interest rate swap transactions) for a certain portion of these liabilities as hedging instruments
to mitigate interest rate ﬂuctuation risks and to ﬁx its interest payments. With regard to the method of evaluation of hedge
effectiveness, the Group omitted the evaluation of the effectiveness as the requirements for special treatment of interest rate
swaps are satisﬁed.
Trade payables, borrowings and bonds are subject to liquidity risks, but the Group manages such risks by preparing cash
ﬂow plans and revising them as appropriate.
With regard to derivative transactions, the Group enters into interest rate swaps to hedge the risk of ﬂuctuations in interest
payments on borrowings as well as foreign exchange forwards and non-deliverable foreign exchange forwards to hedge the
risk of foreign exchange rate ﬂuctuations on foreign currency denominated loans to subsidiaries located outside of Japan. The
Group deals exclusively with Japanese ﬁnancial institutions that have high creditworthiness. In order to manage market risks,
the ﬁnance department handles derivatives transactions based on the risk management policies that stipulate transaction
policies and authorizations to conduct transactions.
(c) Supplementary explanation concerning ﬁnancial instruments
The fair value of ﬁnancial instruments includes value based on market prices and also value calculated rationally when there
is no market price. As variable factors are incorporated into the calculation of such values, the values may change as a result
of the adoption of different assumptions and the like.
(2) FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The consolidated balance sheet amount, fair value and difference as of March 31, 2015 and 2016 are shown below. However,
items for which it is extremely difﬁcult to determine the fair value have not been included in the following table:
Millions of yen
For the year ended March 31, 2015

(1) Cash and deposits
(2) Notes and accounts receivable–trade
Allowance for doubtful accounts*1
(3) Marketable and investment securities
1) Held-to-maturity securities
2) Other securities
Total assets
(1) Notes and accounts payable–trade
(2) Short-term borrowings and
current portion of long-term borrowings
(3) Bonds due within one year
(4) Bonds
(5) Long-term borrowings
Total liabilities
Derivatives*2

Consolidated balance sheet
amount

Fair value

Difference

¥ 96,540
19,157
(13)
¥ 19,144

¥ 96,540

¥ —

¥ 19,144

¥ —

26,074
1,291
¥143,051
¥ 36,180

26,074
1,291
¥143,051
¥ 36,180

0
—
¥ 0
¥ —

22,417
5,000
2,000
27,870
¥ 93,467
¥ (197)

22,420
5,025
2,066
28,119
¥ 93,811
¥ (197)

3
25
66
249
¥343
¥ —

*1 The allowance for doubtful accounts related to notes and accounts receivable–trade has been deducted.
*2 Derivatives are presented on a net basis. The ﬁgures in parentheses are net liabilities.
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Millions of yen
For the year ended March 31, 2016

(1) Cash and deposits

Consolidated balance sheet
amount

Fair value

Difference

¥ 87,343

¥ 87,343

¥ —

¥ 17,180

¥ 17,180

¥ —

4

4

0

(2) Notes and accounts receivable–trade

17,195

Allowance for doubtful accounts*1

(15)

(3) Marketable and investment securities
1) Held-to-maturity securities
2) Other securities
Total assets
(1) Notes and accounts payable–trade

1,175

1,175

—

¥105,704

¥105,704

¥ 0

¥ 17,767

¥ 17,767

¥ —

10,110

10,112

2

—

—

—

(2) Short-term borrowings and
current portion of long-term borrowings
(3) Bonds due within one year
(4) Bonds

2,000

2,048

48

26,361

26,678

317

Total liabilities

¥ 56,238

¥ 56,606

¥368

Derivatives*2

¥

¥

¥ —

(5) Long-term borrowings

33

33

Thousands of U.S. dollars
For the year ended March 31, 2016

(1) Cash and deposits
(2) Notes and accounts receivable–trade

Consolidated balance sheet
amount

Fair value

$775,150

$775,150

$

—

$152,468

$

—

Difference

152,605

Allowance for doubtful accounts*1

(136)
$152,468

(3) Marketable and investment securities
1) Held-to-maturity securities

44

44

0

10,431

10,431

—

$938,094

$938,094

$

0

$157,678

$157,678

$

—

89,723

89,746

2) Other securities
Total assets
(1) Notes and accounts payable–trade
(2) Short-term borrowings and
current portion of long-term borrowings
(3) Bonds due within one year

22

—

—

18,175

425

233,945

236,765

2,819

Total liabilities

$499,097

$502,365

$3,268

Derivatives*2

$

$

$

(5) Long-term borrowings

296

296

—

*1 The allowance for doubtful accounts related to notes and accounts receivable–trade has been deducted.
*2 Derivatives are presented on a net basis. The ﬁgures are net assets.
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—
17,749

(4) Bonds
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(3) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS FOR WHICH IT IS EXTREMELY DIFFICULT TO DETERMINE THE FAIR VALUE
Book value
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen

Other securities
Unlisted stocks

2015

2016

2016

¥199

¥218

$1,936

(4) REDEMPTION SCHEDULE OF PECUNIARY CLAIMS AND HELD-TO-MATURITY SECURITIES
Maturity value
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen

Cash and deposits
Within one year
Notes and accounts receivable–trade
Within one year
Marketable and investment securities

2015

2016

2016

¥ 96,540

¥ 87,343

$775,150

19,157

17,195

152,605

26,069
4

4
—

44
—

¥141,768
4

¥104,544
—

$927,799
—

Held-to-maturity securities
(National government bonds and certiﬁcates of deposit)
Within one year
Over one year and within ﬁve years
Total
Within one year
Over one year and within ﬁve years

07 DERIVATIVES
(1) Derivative transaction to which hedge accounting is not applied:
Currency related transactions
For the year ended March 31, 2015
Type of transaction

Non-market transaction
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NDF
to sell foreign currency:
N.T. dollars
Total

Millions of yen
Contract amount

Contract amount
due after one year

Fair value

Unrealized gain
(loss)

¥380

¥0

¥(197)

¥(197)

¥380

¥0

¥(197)

¥(197)

For the year ended March 31, 2016
Type of transaction

Non-market transaction

Forward foreign
exchange contracts
to sell foreign currency:
A.U. dollars
NDF
to sell foreign currency:
N.T. dollars
Total

Millions of yen
Contract amount

Contract amount
due after one year

¥560

¥560

¥34

¥34

¥ 46

¥ 0

¥ (1)

¥ (1)

¥607

¥560

¥33

¥33

Contract amount

Contract amount
due after one year

Fair value

Unrealized gain
(loss)

$4,975

$4,975

$309

$309

$ 416

$

0

$ (13)

$ (13)

$5,392

$4,975

$296

$296

Fair value

*

Fair value

For the year ended March 31, 2016
Type of transaction

Non-market transaction

Forward foreign
exchange contracts
to sell foreign currency:
A.U. dollars
NDF
to sell foreign currency:
N.T. dollars
Total

Unrealized gain
(loss)

Thousands of U.S. dollars

(2) Derivative transaction to which hedge accounting is applied:
Interest rate related transactions
For the year ended March 31, 2015

Millions of yen

Method of hedge accounting

Type of transaction

Hedged item

Contract amount

Contract amount
due after one year

Exceptional treatment for
interest rate swap

Interest rate swaps:
ﬁxed rate payment,
ﬂoating rate receipt

Long-term
borrowings

¥3,000

¥3,000

Fair value

*

For the year ended March 31, 2016

Millions of yen

Method of hedge accounting

Type of transaction

Hedged item

Contract amount

Contract amount
due after one year

Exceptional treatment for
interest rate swap

Interest rate swaps:
ﬁxed rate payment,
ﬂoating rate receipt

Long-term
borrowings

¥3,000

¥3,000

Fair value

*

For the year ended March 31, 2016

Thousands of U.S. dollars

Type of transaction

Hedged item

Contract amount

Exceptional treatment for
interest rate swap

Interest rate swaps:
ﬁxed rate payment,
ﬂoating rate receipt

Long-term
borrowings

$26,624

$26,624

* Interest rate swap under exceptional treatment is accounted for together with long-term borrowings designated as the hedge item.
Therefore, their fair values are included in the fair value of the long-term borrowings.

DAIKYO INCORPORATED REPORT 2016

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Method of hedge accounting

Contract amount
due after one year
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08 SECURITIES
Information regarding the marketable and investment securities at March 31, 2015 and 2016 is summarized as follows:
(1) HELD-TO-MATURITY SECURITIES WITH MARKET VALUE
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen
2015

2016

2016

Securities whose market value exceeds book value
Book value

¥

74

¥ 4

$44

74

4

44

0

0

0

Book value

26,000

—

—

Market value

26,000

—

—

—

—

—

¥26,074

¥ 4

$44

26,074

4

44

0

0

0

Market value
Difference
Securities whose market value does not exceed book value

Difference
Total
Book value
Market value
Difference

(2) OTHER SECURITIES WITH MARKET VALUE AVAILABLE
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen
2015

2016

2016

¥ 606

¥ 558

$ 4,955

1,291

1,175

10,431

685

617

5,476

Securities whose market value exceeds acquisition cost
Stocks
Acquisition cost
Market value
Difference

(3) OTHER SECURITIES SOLD DURING THE FISCAL YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 2015 and 2016
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen

Amount sold
Gain

2015

2016

2016

¥—

¥115

$1,025

—

63

564

(4) INVESTMENTS IN NON-CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen

Investment securities
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2015

2016

2016

¥54

¥73

$647

09 LEASE TRANSACTIONS
Lessee
The minimum future lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases at March 31, 2015 and 2016 are as follows:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen

Within one year

2015

2016

2016

¥ 954

¥ 485

$ 4,306

Over one year

2,015

1,530

13,585

Total

¥2,970

¥2,015

$17,891

Lessor
The minimum future lease income under non-cancelable operating leases at March 31, 2015 and 2016 are as follows:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen

Within one year

2015

2016

¥ 531

¥ 531

2016

$ 4,717

Over one year

2,215

1,683

14,939

Total

¥2,746

¥2,215

$19,657

10 SHORT-TERM DEBT AND LONG-TERM DEBT
Short-term debt and long-term debt at March 31, 2015 and 2016 consisted of the following:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen
2015

2016

¥

891
21,526
5,000
20

¥ 100
10,010
—
8

$

887
88,835
—
76

27,870
2,000
17
¥57,324

26,361
2,000
5
¥38,484

233,945
17,749
47
$341,541

Average
interest rate

0.46%
0.77
—
2.32

0.75
1.79
2.43

Borrowings secured by collateral at March 31, 2015 and 2016 are as follows:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen
2015

Short-term borrowings
Long-term borrowings
Other (Long-term liabilities)
Total

¥ 7,398
3,410
331
¥11,139

2016

¥ —
1,830
276
¥2,106

2016

$
—
16,240
2,453
$18,694
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Short-term debt
Short-term borrowings
Current portion of long-term borrowings
Bonds due within one year
Current portion of lease obligations
Long-term debt
Long-term borrowings
Bonds
Lease obligations
Total

2016
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Bonds at March 31, 2015 and 2016 consisted of the following:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen

1.21% domestic straight bonds, due 2015
1.79% domestic straight bonds, due 2017
Total

2015

2016

¥5,000
2,000
¥7,000

¥

2016

—
2,000
¥2,000

$

—
17,749
$17,749

The aggregate annual maturities during the next ﬁve years and thereafter of long-term borrowings including the current portion
outstanding at March 31, 2016 are as follows:
Year ending March 31

Millions of yen

2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022 and thereafter
Total

¥10,010
9,621
4,740
5,100
—
6,900
¥36,371

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

$ 88,835
85,383
42,066
45,260
—
61,235
$322,781

Assets pledged as collateral for short-term borrowings and long-term borrowings with banks at March 31, 2015 and 2016 are
as follows:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen
2015

Real estate for sale in progress

2016

2016

¥2,754

$24,442

Real estate for development projects

388

—

—

Land

524

524

4,650

Other assets
Total
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¥14,559
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1,643

1,643

14,587

¥17,116

¥4,922

$43,681

11 EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS
The Company and its consolidated domestic subsidiaries have deﬁned beneﬁt retirement plans that include corporate deﬁned
beneﬁt pension plans (CDBPs) and lump-sum payment plans as well as deﬁned contribution pension plans, among others.
Certain domestic subsidiaries apply the simpliﬁed method to calculate net deﬁned beneﬁt liability and retirement beneﬁt costs
for CDBPs and lump-sum payment plans.
(1) DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS
a) Movements in retirement beneﬁt obligations:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen
2015

Balance at beginning of year
Cumulative effects of changes in accounting policies
Restated balance
Service costs
Interest costs
Actuarial loss
Benefits paid
Past service costs
Other
Balance at end of year

¥15,706
(795)
14,911
1,006
118
(23)
(622)
—
83
¥15,474

2016

¥15,474
—
15,474
1,029
124
423
(592)
123
19
¥16,603

2016

$137,332
—
137,332
9,139
1,103
3,756
(5,257)
1,099
176
$147,350

b) Movements in plan assets:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen

Balance at beginning of year

2015

2016

2016

¥5,570

¥6,725

$59,682

Expected return on plan assets

163

193

1,713

Actuarial gains and losses

726

(461)

(4,092)

Contributions paid by the employer

477

486

4,314

Beneﬁts paid
Balance at end of year

(212)

(251)

(2,233)

¥6,725

¥6,691

$59,383

c) Reconciliations from retirement beneﬁt obligations and plan assets to net deﬁned beneﬁt liability and net deﬁned beneﬁt asset:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen
2016

2016

Unfunded retirement beneﬁt obligations
Total net deﬁned beneﬁt liability at March 31, 2015 and 2016

¥ 6,652
(6,725)
(72)
8,821
8,749

¥ 6,799
(6,691)
108
9,804
9,912

$ 60,342
(59,383)
958
87,008
87,967

Net deﬁned beneﬁt liability
Net deﬁned beneﬁt asset
Total net deﬁned beneﬁt liability at March 31, 2015 and 2016

8,894
(145)
8,749

9,912
—
9,912

87,967
—
87,967

Funded retirement beneﬁt obligations
Plan assets
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d) Retirement beneﬁt costs:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen

Service costs
Interest costs
Expected return on plan assets
Net actuarial loss amortization
Past service costs amortization
Other
Total retirement beneﬁt costs
for the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2016

2015

2016

2016

¥1,006
118
(163)
422
—
108

¥1,029
124
(193)
362
123
—

$ 9,139
1,103
(1,713)
3,214
1,099
—

¥1,492

¥1,447

$12,843

e) Remeasurements of deﬁned beneﬁt plans:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen

Actuarial gains and losses
Transition obligations
Total remeasurements of deﬁned beneﬁt plans
at March 31, 2015 and 2016

2015

2016

2016

¥1,172
108

¥(522)
—

$(4,634)
—

¥1,281

¥(522)

$(4,634)

f) Amount recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen

Actuarial gains and losses that are yet to be recognized

2015

2016

2016

¥(17)

¥505

$4,481

2015

2016

g) Plan assets:
Plan assets comprise:
Equity securities
Bonds
Insurance product
Cash and deposits
Other
Total

53%
34
8
2
3
100%

51%
36
8
2
3
100%

h) Actuarial assumptions:
The principal actuarial assumptions at March 31, 2015 and 2016 are as follows:
2015

Discount rate
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets

0.7–1.5%
3.0%

2016

0.3–0.9%
3.0%

(2) DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PENSION PLANS
The required contribution amount for the Company and its domestic subsidiaries for the year ended March 31, 2015 is ¥485
million, and for the year ended March 31, 2016 is ¥479 million ($4,251 thousands).
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12 INCOME TAXES
The Company and its consolidated domestic subsidiaries are subject to corporate tax of 23.7% and 23.5%, inhabitant tax of
4.9% and 3.7%, and deductible enterprise tax of 7.0% and 6.0%, which in the aggregate resulted in a statutory income tax rate
of approximately 35.6% and 33.1% for the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2016, respectively.
Reconciliations between the statutory income tax rate and the income tax rate reﬂected in the consolidated statements of
income are as follows:
Statutory tax rate
Reconciliation
Non-deductible expenses for tax purposes
Per capita inhabitant taxes
Amortization of goodwill
Adjustment of deferred tax assets for enacted changes in tax laws and rates
Valuation allowance
Other
Effective income tax rate

2015

2016

35.6%

33.1%

1.5
1.0
2.4
3.8
(17.5)
0.1
26.9%

1.3
1.3
2.0
1.7
(13.3)
(0.4)
25.7%

Signiﬁcant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities at March 31, 2015 and 2016 are as follows:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen

Deferred tax assets:
Impairment loss on ﬁxed assets
Provision for employee bonuses
Net deﬁned beneﬁt liability
Loss carryforwards
Other
Gross deferred tax assets
Less: Valuation allowance
Total deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities:
Unrealized gains on other securities
Excess of fair value over the book value of assets and
liabilities of a consolidated subsidiary at the acquisition date
Other
Gross deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax assets

2015

2016

2016

¥ 2,958
800
2,426
13,717
2,889
22,791
(17,329)
5,462

¥ 2,781
863
3,018
9,705
2,461
18,830
(13,601)
5,229

$ 24,684
7,665
26,788
86,132
21,846
167,116
(120,707)
46,409

208

178

1,583

2,847
412
3,468
¥ 1,993

2,466
290
2,936
¥ 2,293

21,891
2,581
26,056
$ 20,352
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The valuation allowance relates to temporary differences and operating loss carryforwards for tax purposes that are not expected
to be realized.
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(Adjustment of deferred tax assets and liabilities for enacted changes in tax laws and rates)
The “Act of Partial Amendment to the Income Tax Act, etc.” (Act No. 15, 2016) and the “Act on partial Amendment to the Local
Tax Act, etc.” (Act No.13, 2016) were promulgated on March 31, 2016, and accordingly, the corporate tax rate and other rates
have been lowered from the ﬁscal year beginning on or after April 1, 2016.
Due to this change, the effective statutory tax rate used for the calculation of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
has been revised from the previous rate of 33.10%. The rate of 30.86% has been applied to the temporary differences expected
to be either deductible, taxable or expired in the ﬁscal year beginning on April 1, 2016 through the ﬁscal year beginning on April
1, 2017, while the rate of 30.62% has been applied to the temporary differences expected to be either deductible, taxable, or
expired in or after the ﬁscal year beginning on April 1, 2018.
In addition, due to the revision of the carry-forward system of net operating losses, the amount of net operating losses that
can be deducted is limited to the equivalent of 60% of taxable income before such deductions for the ﬁscal year beginning
April 1, 2016, while it is limited to the equivalent of 55% of taxable income before such deductions for the ﬁscal year beginning
April 1, 2017, and it is limited to the equivalent of 50% of taxable income before such deductions for the ﬁscal years beginning
on or after April 1, 2018.
Due to these changes, net deferred tax assets decreased by ¥287 million ($2,554 thousands) and remeasurements of deﬁned
beneﬁt plans decreased by ¥5 million ($52 thousands) and deferred income taxes increased by ¥291 million ($2,590 thousands),
net unrealized losses on other securities increased by ¥9 million ($88 thousands) during the ﬁscal year ended March 31, 2016.

13 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries are contingently liable for guarantees at March 31, 2015 and 2016 as follows:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen
2015

Guarantee to customers

¥41,201

2016

¥12,544

2016

$111,330

14 NET ASSETS
Under Japanese laws and regulations, the entire amount paid for new shares is basically required to be designated as capital
stock. However, a company may, by resolution of the Board of Directors, designate an amount not exceeding one-half of the new
share’s price as additional paid-in capital, which is included in capital surplus.
Under the Japanese Corporate Law (the “Law”), in cases where a dividend distribution of surplus is made, the smaller of an
amount equal to 10% of the dividend or the excess, if any, of 25% of capital stock over the total of additional paid-in-capital and
legal earnings reserve must be set aside as additional paid-in-capital or legal earnings reserve. The legal earnings reserve is
included in retained earnings in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
Under the Law, in the case of the Company, legal earnings reserve and additional paid-in capital could be used to eliminate or
reduce a deﬁcit by resolution of the Board of Directors.
Additional paid-in capital and legal earnings reserve may not be distributed as dividends. However, all additional paid-in capital
and legal earnings reserve may be transferred to other capital surplus and retained earnings, respectively, which are potentially
available for dividends.
The maximum amount that the Company can distribute as dividends is calculated based on the non-consolidated ﬁnancial
statements of the Company in accordance with Japanese laws and regulations.
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15 PREFERRED STOCK
The Company issued the following preferred stock:
Number of shares outstanding
(thousands)

Class 1

Issuance

2015

2016

September 2002

10,000

10,000

The preferred stock has a conversion feature to common stock at the holder’s option, which becomes effective after a certain
predetermined period (5 years) after issuance. The initial conversion price is determined as the average market price of the
Company’s common stock when the conversion feature becomes effective. The preferred stock is convertible to common stock
over 18 years, and conversion prices are reset annually if certain conditions are met. Preferred stock outstanding at the end of
the conversion period is mandatorily converted to common stock at a predetermined conversion rate.

16 COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Amounts reclassiﬁed to proﬁt in the current period that were recognized in other comprehensive income in the current or
previous periods and tax effects for each component of other comprehensive income are as follows:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen
2015

2016

2016

Net unrealized gains on other securities
Changes during the year
Reclassiﬁcation adjustments

¥ 190

¥

(5)

$

(49)

—

(63)

(564)

Sub-total, before tax

190

(69)

(613)

Tax or beneﬁt

(45)

31

281

Sub-total, net of tax

145

(37)

(332)

(5)

5

46

Changes during the year

749

(1,008)

(8,948)

Reclassiﬁcation adjustments

531

486

4,314

1,281

(522)

(4,634)

(106)

136

1,207

Foreign currency translation adjustments
Changes during the year
Remeasurements of deﬁned beneﬁt plans

Sub-total, before tax
Tax or beneﬁt
Sub-total, net of tax
Total other comprehensive income

1,174

(386)

(3,427)

¥1,313

¥ (418)

$(3,713)
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17 CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(1) Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, bank deposits withdrawable on demand and highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less and a low risk of ﬂuctuation in value.
(2) Cash and cash equivalents at March 31, 2015 and 2016 consisted of the following:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen

Cash and deposits
Time deposits with maturities of more than 3 months
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

2015

2016

2016

¥96,540

¥87,343

$775,150

(14)

(5,014)

(44,498)

¥96,526

¥82,329

$730,651

(3) Assets and liabilities of the company, which is excluded from consolidation for the year ended March 31, 2015, are as follows:
Wako Accutech CO., Ltd.
Millions of yen
2015

Current assets
Other assets

74

Total assets

¥329

Current liabilities

¥ (63)

Long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Net unrealized losses on other securities
Loss on sales of shares
Sales price of shares
Cash and cash equivalents
Net: Proceeds from sales of stocks of a subsidiary resulting in
change in scope of consolidation

18 BUSINESS COMBINATION
Not applicable.
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(7)
¥ (70)
¥ (6)
(1)
¥250
(49)
¥200

19 SEGMENT INFORMATION
(General information about reportable segments)
The reportable segments of the Group represent its components whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the Board
of Directors in deciding how to allocate resources and assessing segment performance, utilizing separately available ﬁnancial
information.
The Group is composed of companies which operate business based on the nature of products and services. The Group
develops comprehensive strategies and performs business activities.
The Group’s segments have been aggregated based on the nature of products and services into three reportable segments:
“Real Estate Development and Sales,” “Real Estate Management,” and “Real Estate Brokerage.”
Descriptions of the reportable segments are as stated below.
From the ﬁscal year ended March 31, 2016, following a change in the Group’s management structure, DAIKYO REFORMDESIGN INCORPORATED has been reclassiﬁed from Real Estate Management segment to Real Estate Brokerage segment.
The segment information for the ﬁscal year ended March 31, 2015 has been revised in accordance with the new segment
classiﬁcation.
Segment

Main business

Real Estate Development and Sales

Development and sales of condominiums, etc.

Real Estate Management

Management of condominiums and ofﬁce buildings, contracts for condominium repair
and maintenance work, etc.

Real Estate Brokerage

Real estate brokerage, existing real estate sales, etc.

(Basis of measurement of reported segment proﬁt or loss, segment assets, segment liabilities and other material items)
The accounting policies of segments are almost the same as those described in Note 3 (“SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES”). The measure of segment proﬁt is operating income. Transactions and transfers between segments
are made at arm’s length prices.
(Information about reported segment proﬁt or loss, segment assets, segments liabilities and other material items)
Information as of and for the ﬁscal years ended March 31, 2015 and 2016 is as follows:
Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31, 2015

Real Estate
Development
and Sales

Real Estate
Management

Real Estate
Brokerage

Eliminations
or Corporate
Assets/Expenses

Consolidated
Total

Net Sales
(1) Sales to outside customers
(2) Inter-segment sales/transfers
Total net sales

¥120,344

¥149,181

¥47,628

¥

—

¥317,154

368

2,065

863

(3,298)

—

¥120,712

¥151,246

¥48,492

¥ (3,298)

¥317,154

¥ 10,121

¥ 8,218

¥ 2,938

¥ (3,154)

¥ 18,124

Assets

¥217,053

¥ 62,729

¥30,369

¥14,457

¥324,610

585

1,009

229

(12)

1,811

45

964

52

—

1,063

663

0

58

(57)

665

1,048

735

195

(3)

1,975

Depreciation
Amortization of goodwill
Interest expense
Total expenditures for additions to tangible
ﬁxed assets and intangible ﬁxed assets
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Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31, 2016

Real Estate
Development
and Sales

Real Estate
Management

Real Estate
Brokerage

Eliminations
or Corporate
Assets/Expenses

Consolidated
Total

Net Sales
(1) Sales to outside customers
(2) Inter-segment sales/transfers
Total net sales

¥121,820

¥159,193

¥53,839

390

3,628

1,064

¥

—

¥334,853

(5,083)

—

¥122,211

¥162,821

¥54,904

¥ (5,083)

¥334,853

Segment proﬁt

¥ 8,667

¥ 9,664

¥ 3,233

¥ (3,246)

¥ 18,318

Assets

¥191,456

¥ 63,626

¥36,714

¥(17,203)

¥274,594

680

976

240

(12)

1,885

45

965

52

—

1,064

483

0

107

(115)

475

1,058

584

210

91

1,944

Depreciation
Amortization of goodwill
Interest expense
Total expenditures for additions to tangible
ﬁxed assets and intangible ﬁxed assets

Thousands of U.S. dollars

For the year ended March 31, 2016

Real Estate
Development
and Sales

Real Estate
Management

Real Estate
Brokerage

Eliminations
or Corporate
Assets/Expenses

Consolidated
Total

Net Sales
(1) Sales to outside customers

$1,081,117

$1,412,791

$477,812

3,467

32,198

(2) Inter-segment sales/transfers
Total net sales

—

$2,971,721

9,450

(45,116)

—

$1,084,584

$1,444,989

$487,262

$ (45,116)

$2,971,721

Segment proﬁt

$

$

85,770

$ 28,693

$ (28,811)

$ 162,574

Assets

$1,699,114

$ 564,668

$325,829

$(152,675)

$2,436,936

6,043

8,663

2,137

(115)

16,729

Depreciation
Amortization of goodwill
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$

76,922

408

8,568

469

—

9,445

Interest expense

4,289

1

956

(1,024)

4,222

Total expenditures for additions to tangible
ﬁxed assets and intangible ﬁxed assets

9,398

5,184

1,869

808

17,260
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20 RELATED PARTY INFORMATION
A related party transaction for the year ended March 31, 2015 is as follows:
Type
Name of the related party
Address
Capital or investment
Type of business
Equity ownership percentage
Relation
Nature of transaction
Transaction amount
Account
Balance at year-end

Sister companies
ORIX Real Estate Corporation
Minato-ku, Tokyo
¥200 million
Real estate-related
None
Mutual directorships
Contract sales related to condominium sales
—
Deposits received
¥9,954 million

No material related party transaction to be disclosed for the years ended March 31, 2016.

21 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Not applicable.
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Stock Information
As of March 31, 2016

Total Number of Shares Issued

Number of Shareholders

Common stock 843,542,737

23,775

Overview of Preferred Stock As of March 31, 2016

Class 1
Amount of issue

Preferred stock

10,000,000

¥4.0 billion

Number of shares issued

10 million shares

Issued price

¥400

Shareholder

ORIX Corporation

Preferred dividends

Major Shareholders

Cap price
Amount of preferred
dividends

Common stock
Name

Number of shares (1,000 shares)

ORIX Corporation

537,490

Japan Trustee Services Bank, Ltd. (Trust Account)

9,041

STATE STREET BANK AND TRUST COMPANY 505001

8,815

The Master Trust Bank of Japan, Ltd. (Trust Account)

7,214

Daikyo Group Employees Shareholding Association

6,651

MELLON BANK TREATY CLIENTS OMNIBUS

6,571

Aioi Nissay Dowa Insurance Co., Ltd.

5,573

¥400 x (JY TIBOR + 1.75%)
Non-participating/
non-cumulative

Participating/cumulative
Right to receive residual
assets upon liquidation

¥400

Voting rights
Revival clause
Stock splits,
reverse stock splits

No voting rights
When preferred dividends are
not possible
No stock splits,
no reverse stock splits

Conversion at holder’s option
Initial conversion price

STATE STREET BANK AND TRUST CLIENT OMNIBUS
ACCOUNT OM02 505002

¥40

5,218

Daikyo Business Partners Shareholding Association

4,571

HSBC BANK PLC–MARATHON VERTEX JAPAN FUND LIMITED

4,280

Revision of conversion
price
Adjustment of
conversion price

¥444.0
Downward revision
At market price every year on
Oct 1 from 2008 onwards
Conversion price is adjusted
in speciﬁc situations

Floor price
Conversion period

Preferred stock
Name

Number of shares (1,000 shares)

ORIX Corporation

10,000

Japanese
individuals and others

Japanese
financial institutions

14.7%

6.4%

Foreign
institutions and individuals

13.0%
Stock Information
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Common stock

843,542,737

Japanese
securities companies

0.8%

Other Japanese
corporations

65.1%
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18 years from Oct 1, 2007

Conversion at company’s initiative
Maturity date of
conversion at
company’s initiative
Conversion price

Distribution of Shares by Type of Shareholder (Common stock)

¥351.6

Oct 1, 2025
Average of closing prices for
30 consecutive trading days

Floor price

¥355.2

Ranking between
each class

Pari passu

Note: The Japanese Bankers Association publishes TIBOR (the
Tokyo interbank offered rate) as the Japanese yen reference
rate (for one year) as of April 1. With Class 1 preferred
shares, the Japanese yen TIBOR or equivalent percentage
is calculated to the fourth decimal and rounded down to the
third decimal. The 30 transaction day average for an acquisition price is an average for the ﬁnal value for 30 trading
days commencing on the 45th trading day before the date
on which acquisition terms are fulﬁlled.

History

Daikyo Group History

1960

1987

Established Daikyo Shoji Incorporated

1964

Daikyo Kanko Incorporated renamed
DAIKYO INCORPORATED

Established Daikyo Kanko Incorporated
(now DAIKYO INCORPORATED)

2007
The Lions Ueno no Mori, the 6,000th
Lions mansion building, launched
Established TAIWAN DAIKYO
INCORPORATED

2008

1968
Launched condominium sales
Launched ﬁrst Lions Mansion

Public announcement on
change of company name

1988
1969
Established Daikyo Kanri Incorporated
(now DAIKYO ASTAGE
INCORPORATED) as a company
specializing in condominium
management

1975
Introduced auto-lock main entrance
and brick-tile exterior

1978
Achieved top position as industry leader
in condominium units supplied (4,289
units), remaining No. 1 for 29
consecutive years

1979
Established Jutaku Ryutsu Center to
launch real estate distribution and
brokerage operations

1982
Listed on Second Section of the Tokyo
Stock Exchange (moved to First
Section in 1984)

Established Daikyo Jutaku Ryutsu
Incorporated (now DAIKYO ANABUKI
REAL ESTATE INCORPORATED)
Completed 1,000th building in Lions
Mansion series
Set up condominium management
industry’s ﬁrst training center

1998
Completed construction of Elsa Tower
55, a 55-ﬂoor condominium skyscraper,
the nation’s tallest such structure at the
time
Became biggest condominium
management company for ﬁrst time
(with 231,286 units under management)

1999
Completed 5,000th building in Lions
Mansion series LIONS Villaggio 5000
launched

2000
Following the introduction of the
Housing Performance Labeling System,
became the ﬁrst in the industry to
receive the Ministry of Land,
Infrastructure and Transport’s house
design performance evaluation

2003

Advertisement at time of listing

1984

2004

2009
Building and condominium
management ﬁrm ORIX Facilities
Corporation joined the Group

2011
Inaugurated ALION TERRACE series of
detached houses
Became ﬁrst in the industry to manage
more than 400,000 condominiums

2012
Started selling Renoα-brand of
renovated condominiums

2013
Condominium construction and
comprehensive real estate services
company Daikyo Anabuki Construction
Inc. joined the Group
Completed 8,000th condominium
building

2014
Condominium renovation specialist
DAIKYO CONSTRUCTION
INCORPORATED started
comprehensive and large-scale repairs
and maintenance (merged with and
absorbed Anabuki Construction Inc.
and established a construction ﬁrm,
DAIKYO ANABUKI CONSTRUCTION
INCORPORATED in 2015)
Became ﬁrst in Japan to manage more
than 500,000 condominiums
Established Daikyo Australia Pty Ltd
Established Daikyo Hongkong Limited
Celebrated Daikyo Group’s 50th
anniversary in December

Became ﬁrst in the industry to manage
more than 300,000 condominiums

2005

History

Developed and deployed
LIONSONLINE-GUARD (L.O.G
System), the industry’s ﬁrst centralized
condominium management system
Engineering department set up at
Daikyo Kanri Incorporated (now
DAIKYO ASTAGE INCORPORATED).
Comprehensive large-scale
condominium repairs and maintenance
started

Launched Forest Lake Hibarigaoka, the
ﬁrst private sector-built condominium
complex in Japan to receive ofﬁcial
approval as an environment-friendly
housing project

J.COMS (later merged with DAIKYO
ASTAGE INCORPORATED), a
condominium management ﬁrm, joined
the Group
Real estate brokerage and consulting
ﬁrm Asset Wave Incorporated (now
DAIKYO ANABUKI REAL ESTATE
INCORPORATED) joined the Group

Formed capital alliance with ORIX
Corporation (ORIX)

2006

Established DAIKYO L . DESIGN
INCORPORATED (now DAIKYO
REFORM . DESIGN INCORPORATED
to sell interior decor and remodeling
services

2015年
Repair and maintenance company SHUKEN
INCORPORATED joined the Group
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Corporate Profile

Corporate Proﬁle
Corporate name:

DAIKYO INCORPORATED

Major shareholder: ORIX Corporation

Date established:

December 11, 1964

Head office:

Sendagaya No. 21 Daikyo Building,
4-24-13, Sendagaya, Shibuya-ku,
Tokyo 151-8506, Japan

Major memberships:
The Real Estate Companies Association of Japan
Japan Business Federation
Real Estate Fair Trade Council

Capital stock:

¥41,171,538,600 (as of March 31, 2016)

Fiscal year-end:

March 31

Number of consolidated subsidiaries:
13 (as of March 31, 2016)
Number of employees:
5,256 (as of March 31, 2016, on consolidated basis)
Major banks:
Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd.
Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Limited
Mizuho Bank, Ltd.
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation
The Norinchukin Bank

Major permits:
Building Lot and Building Transaction Business:
Minister of Land, Infrastructure and Transport (13) No. 792
Construction Business:
Minister of Land, Infrastructure and Transport Permit
(Toku 23) No. 4238
Real Estate Speciﬁed Joint Enterprise:
Financial Services Agency Commissioner and Minister of Land,
Infrastructure and Transport No. 18
First-class architect’s ofﬁce/head ofﬁce:
Governor of Tokyo registration No. 18268
Stock exchange listing:
First Section, Tokyo Stock Exchange

Daikyo Group’s Main Companies

DAIKYO INCORPORATED

Condominium repair and maintenance, general engineering works and
building construction, and building diagnostics and seismic
reinforcement work

ANABUKI CONSTRUCTION INC.

DAIKYO ANABUKI CONSTRUCTION INC.

Daikyo Australia Pty Ltd

SHUKEN INCORPORATED

Condominium management, resident services,
and janitorial services

Real estate brokerage and leasing management,
renovations, and interior remodeling

DAIKYO ASTAGE INCORPORATED

DAIKYO ANABUKI REAL ESTATE INCORPORATED
DAIKYO REFORM . DESIGN INCORPORATED

Real estate development, real estate sales,
and urban development

ANABUKI COMMUNITY INC.
Property management, construction management,
and building utilities

TAIWAN DAIKYO INCORPORATED
DAIKYO HONGKONG LIMITED

ORIX FACILITIES CORPORATION
RYUKYU FACILITIES CORPORATION

Corporate Proﬁle

DAIKYO INCORPORATED http://www.daikyo.co.jp/
Group Corporate Planning Department
Corporate Planning Ofﬁce
Investor Relations Section
Tel: +81-3-3475-3800 Fax:+81-3-3475-5365
daikyoir@grp.daikyo.co.jp

Group Overseas Business Ofﬁce
Tel: +81-3-3475-3827 Fax:+81-3-3475-5365
global@grp.daikyo.co.jp

For inquiries about this report, please contact us at the address above.
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DAIKYO INCORPORATED
Sendagaya No. 21 Daikyo Building, 4-24-13, Sendagaya, Shibuya-ku, Tokyo 151-8506, Japan
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